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Figure1: Aerial photo(compareto Fig.32),lookingWNW: Mt. McKinley loomsoverFake
Peak(circled molehill, lower right). Key: 1 = Mt. Church(8233ft), 2 = Mt. Grosvenor
(8450ft), 3 = Mt. Johnson(8460ft), 4= Mt. Wake(double­peak,c.9100ft), 5 = Mt. Bradley
(9140ft), 6 = Mt. Dickey (9545ft), 7 = Mt. Barrille (7650ft), A = GlacierPt.(3753ft), B =
Gateway(c.5000ft), S= Mt. McKinley S.Peak(20320ft), N = N. Peak(19470ft). Cook's
�nal 1906movements(beforeheadinghome): throughlower­left cornerto A; thenceto
FakePeakarea;backto A; A to B (pastpeaks1­7). Photocourtesyof BradfordWashburn.
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z7 The Fake PeakRevisited

An examinationof the new evidencefor and againstFrederick
A. Cook's claim to haveclimbed Mount McKinley in 1906

by Robert M. Bryce1

A Intr oduction

A1 Lateon thenightof October2, 1906,a telegraphmessengerknockedat thedoorof
604CarltonAvenuein Brooklyn, New York. HerbertL. Bridgman,businessmanagerof
theBrooklyn Standard Union, paidthe$12.50collectchargesandopenedthetelegram. It
wasdatedSeptember27:

Tyonek,Alaska
H. L. Bridgman,Brooklyn,NY.:

We have reachedthesummitof Mount McKinley by a new routein the
north, andhave mapped3000miles of country. Returnto Seattleby next
steamer. Fred.A. Cook.2

A2 FrederickA. Cook wasa medicaldoctorandfriend of Bridgman's. He wasalso
a noted explorer. Cook had beenRobert E. Peary's surgeon on his North Greenland
Expeditionin 1891­1892andwasrecognizedpublicly by Pearyfor his contributionsto its
success.He hadalsoserved with distinctionin a similar role with the BelgianAntarctic
Expeditionof 1897­1899.In 1903hehadmadehis�rst attemptto climb thehighestpeakin
North America,andnow his telegramto Bridgmanproclaimedhis victory in thatventure.
But this claimedsuccesscameasa surpriseto many, especiallyHerschelParker, a physics
professorat ColumbiaUniversity, who hadonly recentlyreturnedfrom Alaska,wherehe
hadbeenpartof Cook's expedition. He wasunderthedistinct impressionthatCook had
givenupany attemptto climb themountain.In fact,thatis why Parkerhadreturnedto New
York aheadof therestof theparty.
A3 Whenconfrontedwith Cook's telegram,Parkercouldscarcelyallow thatit couldbe
true. “He will have to tell mehow hedid it beforeI canbelieve thatit wasdone,” 3 asserted
Parker. “He may have ascendedoneof the peaksof the range,but I do not believe that
hemadetheascentof Mount McKinley.” 4 WhenCookreachedNew York in November,
hewentto seeParker, whoapparently5 wasconvincedof thetruthfulnessof Cook's claim,
thoughhediscountedits scienti�c importance.In Alaska,however, doubtsremainedthat
anEasternerhaddonewhatmostAlaskan“Pioneers”consideredimpossible.
A4 Cook publishedthe �rst accountof his climb in Harper's Monthly Magazinein
1907.6 Thetale it told wasvery thrilling. Cook,with two companions,anAlaskanminer
namedJohnDokkin anda horsepacker from MontananamedEd Barrill, setoff toward

1 [Note by DR: RobertBryce(HeadLibrarian,MontgomeryCollege,Germantown Campus,tele­
phone301­353­7855)is authorof the widely and well reviewed 1997 book, Cook & Peary: The
Polar Controversy, Resolved(StackpoleBooks,5067Ritter Rd, Mechanicburg, PA 17055,telephone
800­732­3669).Cook& Pearyhasdeservedly become— andwill remain— theprimesourceonThe
Controversy.]

2 New York Times, October3, 1906.
3 Ibid, October7, 1906.
4 Ibid, November10. 1906.
5 Though,seeD.Rawlins Pearyat theNorth Pole: Fact or Fiction? (Wash,DC, 1973)p.81.
6 Cook,FrederickA., “The Conquestof MountMcKinley,” Harper'sMonthlyMagazine, May 1907,

pp.825­837.
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Mount McKinley by motor launch(theBolshoy) in lateAugust. Cookhadtold therestof
theexpeditionmemberswhostayedbehindthathewouldmerelybelookingfor aworkable
routefor anotherattemptthefollowing year. Accordingto Cook'saccount,they established
abasecampsome40air milesfrom themountainandstartedupRuthGlacier, whichCook
haddiscoveredcurling away from McKinley's southeastern�anks in 1903andnamedfor
his adopteddaughter. Dokkin soonturnedback,but Cook andBarrill continuedon with
heavy packs,andin threedaysreachedthebaseof a 12,000­footridgeon themountain's
eastern�ank. Onceatopthisridge,they wereencouragedtogoonbyabreakin theweather.
They continuedclimbing for two moredaysand,aftera numberof harrowing escapesand
a miserable,sleeplessnight spentin a holedug into a nearlyverticalslopeat 14,000feet,
they realizedthey hadachanceof reachingtheverysummit.Theweatherheld,anddespite
headaches,nosebleeds,snowblindnessandotherevil effectsof thehighaltitudeandintense
cold,Cookrelated,they managedto struggleto within 2,000feetof thetop on theseventh
day of the climb. On the morningof the eighthday they madea dashfor the higherof
thetwin summitsandreachedit about10o'clock, September16. They stayedonly twenty
freezingminutesat � 16 degreesbeforebeginningtheir descent,reachingtheir boatagain
onSeptember20.
A5 Accompanying his article,Cookpublishedtwo drawingsshowing dramaticscenes
from thenarrative,severalphotographswith captionsimplying they hadbeentakenduring
theactualascent,andoneunequivocally identi�ed asthesummitwith Ed Barrill standing
at its apex holdinganiceaxwith anAmerican�ag lashedto it. DuringDecember1906and
the�rst monthsof 1907,Cooklecturedon his climb andwaselectedthesecondpresident
of theExplorersClubof New York, succeedingAdolphusW. Greely.
A6 In July1907,Cookembarkedonanew expeditionto theArctic. Duringhisabsence,
in 1908,afull­�edged bookdetailinghistwo expeditionsto Alaskaappearedunderthetitle
To theTop of theContinent, in which thesamepicturesashadappearedin Harper's were
printedwith somewhatdifferentcaptions.In thecaseof theoneof EdBarrill onthesummit,
thepicturewasrendereddifferently from thatwhich hadaccompaniedCook's article. In
Harper's thesky hadbeenairbrushedout andappearedblank,but in the book, thesame
picturehada dark sky, matchingthe descriptionin Cook's narrative, which remarked on
its peculiarcolor at thesummit.Thebookwasreviewedfavorablyin AmericaandEurope
andthereseemedto beno lingeringdoubtsover Cook's claim to have conqueredthegreat
Alaskanpeak.
A7 All of thatchangedonSeptember1,1909,whenCooksentadispatchfrom Lerwick,
Scotland,sayingthathehadreachedtheNorthPoleonApril 21,1908.Hewasbeinggiven
atumultuouswelcomein Copenhagen,Denmark,whenwordarrivedfrom RobertE. Peary
that he claimed he had reachedthe North Pole in April of 1909, followed shortly by
Peary's �rst allegationthatCook's prior claim to thePolewasa fraud. In thechargesand
counterchargesthatwereto ragefor monthsin thenation's newspapers,the initial doubts
aboutCook's climb of Mount McKinley wereraisedearlyon,but it wasnot until October
14, 1909,that Cook's climb of McKinley becamea centralissuein what hassincebeen
dubbedThePolarControversy.
A8 On that day, the New York Globe & Commercial Advertiserpublisheda detailed
af�davit signedby EdwardBarrill swearingthatneitherhenor Cookhadever beenwithin
12milesof thesummitof MountMcKinley, thatthey hadneverclimbedevena12,000foot
ridge,muchlessstoodon the20,320­footsummit,andthatall of theharrowing adventures
in betweenhadbeennothingbut fantasyonCook'spart. Cook'smany supporters,including
thepowerful New York Herald, counteredthatBarrill' saf�davit couldnotbetrusted,since
it hadbeenmadeby a manwho wasnow admittingto have lied in thepastwhenhe told
friendson numerousoccasionsthat he andCook hadreachedthe summit. He hadeven
shown themhis diarybearinga recordof theclimb, substantiallyasCookhaddescribedit
in his writings. Indeed,thediary, whenpublishedin full thenext day, did corroboratein
all majoraspectsCook's narrative of his ascent.However, his af�davit saidthat thediary
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entriesregardingtheclimb werealsoinvention,having all beendictatedby Cook.
A9 Beforetheaf�davit waspublished,therehadbeennumerousrumorsof bribesoffered
to Cook's formerclimbing partnerandto othersfor thepurposeof bringingdown Peary's
rival. Barrill' s af�davit provedthateitherin thepastor now, hewasa liar; but, purchased
or not, theaf�davit wasultimatelyto have a powerful effect on thedeclineof public belief
thatFrederickCookwasa truthful man. Nonetheless,whenCook's North Poleclaim was
rejectedin December1909by a Konsistoriumappointedby theUniversityof Copenhagen
to examinehis proofs,many still adheredto thenotion thatCookhadbeendefeatedby a
moneyedconspiracy bankrolledby thepowerful menof thePearyArctic Club,which had
�nancedPeary'sattemptsto reachthePolefor tenyears— aconspiracy, they said,in which
theBarrill af�davit, whichhadbeenbought,hadplayeda majorrole.
A10 In 1910,theExplorersClub,whichhadpreviouslyformedacommitteeto examine
themeritsof Cook'sclaimto haveclimbedMountMcKinley andrejectedit, �elded its own
expeditionto Alaska.Ledby HerschelParkeralongwith anotherformermemberof Cook's
1906expedition,BelmoreBrowne,it was�nancedby thePearyArctic Club. Its objective
wasto visit thesmallpeakalonga tributaryof RuthGlacierdescribedin Barrill' saf�davit
to obtainphotographsthatwould show that it, andnot thesummitof thegreatmountain,
waswhereCook's pictureof Barrill standingwith the�ag hadbeentaken.
A11 BrowneandParker locatedthespot,but wereunableto exactly duplicateCook's
photodueto deepsnow, which obscuredmany of theimportantfeaturesvisible four years
before,andbecausea shift in a drifted snow cornicepreventedthemfrom standingin the
position that would have allowed the samecameraangleCook hadused. So even their
photographsof what they called“Fake Peak”did not convince somethat it wasthesame
placeastheonein Cook's photograph,especiallysincethey weresponsoredand�nanced
by Cook's opponents.BrowneandParkerweresuccessfulin exactlyduplicatingseveralof
Cook's otherphotographs,however, thusshowing conclusively thatthey werenot takenat
the locationsor the altitudesascribedto themin Cook's book or magazinearticle, being
milesawayandthousandsof feetlower in altitudethanthosehehadassignedthem.
A12 In the 1950s,BradfordWashburn, the foremostexpert on the topographyof the
AlaskaRange,wasableto duplicateall but two of thecontroversialpicturesin To theTop
of theContinent, noneof whichwereat thealtitudesor locationsCookhadsaidthey were.
But he too wasunableto duplicateCook's summitpictureat Fake Peak,for two reasons.
Fifty feet of snow hadmeltedaway7 at the site since1906,placingthe spotCook might
have stoodwhenhe took his picturefar up in thin air. Also, part of the right sideof the
pro�le of rocksjust below thepositionBarrill wasshown standingin Cook's photograph
wasmissing,makinganexactduplicateof thiskey photono longerpossible.
A13 This samerock pro�le was visible in Browne's Fake Peakphoto of 1910, but
Washburn contendedthat this ledgehadcollapsedsinceBrowne's photographwastaken;
Cook's supportersmaintainedthat this ledgehad never existed (z7 xG1), but had been
paintedinto Browne's phototo convict Cook of fraud. Even Washburn associateAdams
Carter's 1957 attemptto erecta climbable50­foot mastso as to placehim at the right
cameraanglefailed to settlethematterwhenhefound it left him several feetshortof the
conjecturalspotwhereCookhadstoodin 1906.
A14 In 1995,Brian Okonek,anAlaskanclimbing guide,duplicatedthelastof Cook's
supposedlyhigh­altitudepicturesfrom thesurfaceof RuthGlacier(Top opp.p.238). But
withoutaduplicateof thesummitpicture,many Cooksupportersremainedadamantthathis
photoactuallyshowedthetop of thecontinentasit looked in 1906,andsuggestedseveral
innocent­soundingexcusesto explain themisattribution of thelocationsof therest. Thus,
Cook's photographof Ed Barrill holding the �ag hasbeencalled“the mostcontroversial
picturein thehistoryof exploration.” Is it a fake or not?

7 SeeBradfordWashburn, “Doctor CookandMount McKinley,” AmericanAlpineJournal, vol.11
no.1[1958],p.22.
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B Newphotographic evidencecomesto light

B1 In 1989mostof FrederickCook's papersweredonatedto theLibrary of Congress.
They hadbeenin thepossessionof his family sincehis deathin 1940andhadnever been
availableasa wholefor scholarlyexamination.Amongthemwastheoriginal diary of his
1906expeditionto Alaska,the existenceof which waspreviously known only to Cook's
family and a few of their intimate friends. However, a portion of the papersremained
in the custodyof the FrederickA. Cook Society, a non­pro�t educationalorganization
composedof a smallgroupof ardentsupportersandCookfamily membersheadquartered
in theSullivanCountyHistoricalandCulturalMuseumin Hurleyville, New York.
B2 In thecourseof researchfor abiographyof FrederickA. Cook,8 I wasgivenunlimited
accessto bothrepositoriesof thepapersonceheldby theCookfamily. In asearchthrough
thephotographicmaterialsat Hurleyville in 1991,a numberof negativestakenby Cookin
1906turnedup,someof themnever published.
B3 It hadalwaysbeenlamentedthatnoonehadeverhadaccessto theoriginalnegative
of Cook's summit photograph,becausethe picture as publishedin his book was dark,
obscuringmany of thedetailsneededto de�nitely identify whereit hadbeentaken,andthe
publicationof thesamephotoin Harper'shadbeensobadlyretouchedthatit hadthesame
effect. If additionalprintscouldbemadefrom theoriginalnegative,studentsof thesubject
speculated,that might clearup the whole matter. Unfortunately, the negative of Cook's
mostcontroversialpicturewasnot amongthoseat Hurleyville. Therewerea numberof
printsmadefrom Cook's original negatives,however, andamongthemwasa sharp,clear
copy of his summitpicture. That shouldhave settledthe matter, but the history of this
picturecontinuedto bebizarre.
B4 As partof my requestfor documentationfrom theFrederickA. CookSociety, acopy
of this picturewasaskedfor on severaloccasions.9 Nearlyall of my many otherrequests
wereeventually�lled — but time after time a copy of thecrucial summitpicturedid not

8 Bryce,RobertM. Cook& Peary: thePolar Controversy, Resolved, Mechanicsburg, PA: Stackpole
Books,1997.

9 Letters,RobertM. BrycetoMary Allison Farley [then­archivist of theFrederickA. CookSociety],
datedOctober21,1991: “De�nite musts. . .: Photocopy of Dr. Cook's `summit' picturethatwe saw
amonghis Mt. McKinley photoson my �rst trip this summer.”; December11,1991: “On thesummit
picture:Pleasesendmea1:1sizecopy of thisandoneaslargeasyoucangetonapagebyenlargement.
Take anenlargedexposurelighter anddarker also. This picturewaspart of theMcKinley prints we
cameacrosson my �rst visit.”; January21, 1992: “What I wantedwastheprint of the famous̀ Top
of theContinent'picture— theonethatDr. Cookalwaysclaimedwasthetop of Mt. McKinley with
Ed Barrill holding the �ag. We found a print of it in thoseboxes of Alaskanpictureswe looked
throughon the�rst visit.” Letters,RobertM. Bryceto WarrenB. Cook,Sr., datedFebruary6, 1993;
March3,1993;February17,1994;April 15,1994: “I dowish,though,whenhefoundit, that[Sheldon
Cook­Dorough,theCookSocietyhistorianatthetime]hadsentmecopiesof theMt. McKinley summit
pictureasI outlinedin detail in several of my lettersto Ms. Farley.”; May 11, 1994: “While [Mrs.
Burns,caretaker of thecollectionat Hurleyville at thetime] is at it, I hopeshewill sendmethecopy
of the`summitpicture' thatI have requestedon anumberof occasionsin thepast,or thatyou will do
it yourselfwhenyou make your upcomingvisit to theMuseummentionedin your letter. . . . When
I waslast in Hurleyville, the picturewascontainedin a greencardboardfolding storagebox on the
top of the grey bookcasebehindthe deskasyou enteredthe door to the room in which the papers
wereheld. Sheldoncon�rmed to methatit wasstill solocatedwhenhewasat theMuseumdoinghis
evaluationof thepapersin 1993. Obtaininga copy of this is alsoimportant,since,while my memory
is excellent,I would rathernot rely on it here.Of course,it would bebestif I couldbesentanactual
photographiccopy of thephoto. It would have to be1:1 in size(not anenlargement),thenthexerox
copieswould beunnecessary, but they alsowould becompletelysatisfactory, andpreferable,if this is
goingto causeabig delayor causeyouany inconvenience.I amsendingacopy of the`summitphoto'
from Harper's so thatMrs. Burnsmight easilyrecognizetheoneI am looking for.”; May 18, 1994.
Copies,possessionof author.
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come.10 In 1994,adirectappealtoWarrenB. Cook,Sr.,11 presidentof thesociety, produced
aseriesof xeroxcopiesof aprint from theoriginalnegativeof Cook'ssummitphotograph,
but not from the one I hadseenin 1991.12 This secondprint was distinguishableby a
differentinscriptionon its backand,judgingfrom thecopies,wasevidentlynotassharpas
theoneI hadseenin 1991.However, whencopiedatvarioussettingsonthexeroxmachine,
itsdetailswereenhancedsothatthey wereclearlydiscernible.Later, in 1994,I wasaskedby
thesocietyto evaluatethecollectionat Hurleyville for contentandpreservation.13 During
my examinationof thecollection,I revisitedtheoriginalnegativesandprintsthatI hadseen
in 1991.Thesociety's formerarchivist hadprocessedthephotographicmaterialssincemy
lastvisit andhadplacedeachof theseitemsin a separateacid­freeenvelope. I looked at
eachof thepicturesagain,but thesummitpictureI hadseenin 1991wasno longeramong
them. Therewas,however, oneemptyacid­freeenvelopein thebox containingtheother
1906prints. Fortunately, thesecondprint (from which thexeroxcopiesthatI hadreceived
weremade)wasstill amongthepapers;but assuspected,insteadof beingcrispandclear,
it hadyellowedandfadedbadly.

C The thr eeversionsof Cook's “summit” photograph

C1 Cook's “summit” photographwas�rst publishedin theMay 1907issueof Harper's
MonthlyMagazineaspartof his articleentitled“The Conquestof Mount McKinley.” (see
Fig.2). In thisguise,it wascroppedat theleft andright andthesky waspaintedout. Many
Cookcritics have assumedthat this wasan intentionalattemptto alter thepictureenough
to make it dif�cult to recognizetheplacewhereit hadbeentaken. However, accordingto
thelaterrecollectionof amemberof theHarper'sstaff, Cookwasnotresponsiblefor these
changes;theretouchinghadbeenaneditorialdecisiontakenwithoutconsultingCook,and

10 Letters,Mary Allison Farley to RobertM. Bryce,datedJanuary17,1992: “I' ve enclosedseveral
copiesof summitshotssinceI do not rememberpreciselywhich oneyou werethinking of. If these
arenotwhatyouhadin mind,perhapsyoucancheckagainif youmakeareturntrip thisspring.” June
30,1992: “Youwill �nd thephotocopy of theprint of MarieCookclimbingin 1903aswell asanother
peakshot. Theonly print that I can�nd of Barrill on thesummitis a reproductionof thephotograph
from thebook.” Letters,WarrenB. Cook,Sr. to RobertM. Bryce,datedFebruary16, 1993;March
22,1993: “I appreciatedyour long letterof 3/3/93andwill try to helpor seekhelpwherever possible
to addresstheopenissues”;March8, 1994: “As regardsyour requesteditemsvia your 5/18/93letter,
you canimaginemy frustrationin not beingableto overseedistribution of any itemsthatmight beof
valueto your researchif indeedwe have samein Hurleyville.” Attachedto this letterwasa copy of a
letterto WarrenB. Cook,Sr. from SheldonCook­Dorough,datedFebruary26,1994,whichcontained
thefollowing: “The otheritemwhichRobertwantedwhichI wasableto �nd wasaprint of Dr. Cook's
photographof thepeakwhichhecaptionedthetopof Mt. McKinley. Now, of course,I couldnotmail
thisphotograph.But I told Bill [Smith,executive directorof theCookSocietyat thetime] thatRobert
wasveryinterestedin it andI told Bill, asI recall,wherethephotographwas�led. I thenwroteRobert,
I believe after I returnedto Atlanta,that thephotographhewantedwasindeedstill in theCollection,
in theboxwherehehadseenit thepreviousyear.” All, possessionof author.

11 Letter, RobertM. BrycetoWarrenB. Cook,Sr., datedMarch22,1994.Copy, possessionof author.
12 Letter, PatriciaBurnstoRobertM. Bryce,datedJuly1,1994: “I haveenclosedcopiesof McKinley

— sorry we couldnot locatetheoriginal.” Possessionof author. That therewasa different,sharper
copy wascon�rmed by then­historianof theFrederickA. CookSociety, SheldonCook­Dorough,in
a letter to the authordatedJune25, 1994: “I found the photographof the summitof Mt. McKinley
to which you referred:Cook's summit. It is indeedin thecollectionandis a print from theoriginal
negative, so notedby Dr. Cook on the backof the photograph. I told Bill Smith who is executive
directorof theCollectionthat I hadfoundit andits exact locationandthatyou might want to copy it
for yourbook. Write Bill anoteandlet him know yourdesires.” Only six daysafterthis letter, asnoted
above,PatriciaBurnssentmethexeroxcopiesof thefadedpicture,but “could not locatetheoriginal”
eventhoughthehistorianof thesocietyhadtold theexecutive directorthe“exactlocation”of it. Both,
possessionof author. [In a phoneconversationin February1998,Mary Allison Farley told theauthor
thatshewasnever instructedto hold thephotographbackby anyonein theCookSociety, andthatshe
hadnoknowledgeof whatbecameof it.]

13 Bryce,RobertM. TheCollectionof theFrederick A. CookSocietyHousedat TheSullivanCounty
Historical Museum,Art andCultural Center, Hurleyville, New York: A Report, 1994,33pages.
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Cook hadobjectedto the alterations,sincethey had removed the dark sky prominently
mentionedin his text and replacedit with a featurelesswhite blank; the magazinewas
alreadyonsaleby thetime of his objection,however, andnothingcouldbedone.14

C2 Thenext versionof the“summit” photographwastheonethatappearedin Cook's
To theTopof theContinent(Doubleday, Page,1908,Fig.3). In thisversion,thepicturewas
croppedmoreontheleft thanin Harper's, but lessontheright, revealinganimportantdetail
that themagazine's editorhadmostlycroppedandpartially airbrushedout. This is in the
form of a peakvisible in thedistance,which Cook's critics assertedgave thetruelocation
of the pictureaway. They saidthis “distant peak” wasidenticalto oneof the mountains
that couldbe seenacrossRuthGlacierin oneof Cook's otherphotographsthatappeared
in his book(Mt. Grosvenor, Fig.4). If this wastrue, they reasoned,thenFigs.3& 4 must
have beentaken at very similar locations. Fig.4 waslater shown by BradfordWashburn
to have beentaken from thetop of Fake Peakitself, proving thatCookvisited thespotin
1906.15 Therefore,if any featureof Cook's “summit” photographcould be tied to Fig.4,
it would conclusively demonstratethatCook's summitis identicalto Browne's Fake Peak.
Thatconnectioncannow beclearlyestablishedwith therecovery of theoriginal printsof
Cook's photographs.
C3 Thecollectionformerlyheldin Hurleyville by theFrederickA. CookSocietyis now
housedat Ohio StateUniversityasa resultof anagreementconcludedbetweenthetwo in
1996.An inquiry to theuniversity'sarchivesdisclosedthatthesharp,originalprint viewed
in 1991,whichwasmissingfrom theHurleyville collectionin 1994,wasnot transferredto
Columbus alongwith the restof the documents.But the yellowed versionusedto make
the1994xeroxcopieswas. It is this copy thathasbeenusedherefor the �rst publication
of Cook's full originalphotographthatheclaimedrepresentedMcKinley'ssummitin 1906
(Fig.18, pp.68­69).16 WhenCook's original photographis comparedwith Fig.4 and the
photographtakenbyAdamsCarterin 1957(Fig.5),it canbeindisputablyshown thatCook's
is indeedFake Peakandnotpartof MountMcKinley, muchlessits summit.

D The thr eekeypoints of comparison

D1 Eachof thekey pointshasbeennumberedfor comparisonon Figs.2,3, 4, 5, 7, and
18. The“distantpeak”seenon theextremeright (Mt. Grosvenor)is labelled[1]. This was
mostlycroppedandairbrushedout of theHarper's version,but a partof it is visible in the
onefrom TotheTopof theContinent. Fig.6(a),anenlargeddetailfrom Fig.4,isprovidedfor
comparisonwith Fig.6(b),andenlargementof thesamedetailfrom Fig.18.Noticehow the
snow lies identicallyonthispeakin bothphotographs,whichwereexposedwithin minutes
of eachother. AdamsCarterwasunableto getquitehigh enoughfor a perfectalignment
of the distantpeakwith the rock faceof Fake Peakthat would matchCook's photo(see

14 Letters,William E. Mearsto E.A. Murphy, datedOctober14 & 26, 1931. FrederickA. Cook
Papers,Library of Congress.SeeCook& Pearypp.819­820.

15 Washburn,Bradford,AmericanAlpineJournal, vol.11no.1[1958],p.17.
16 Fig.18 is reproducedfrom the yellowed print enhancedby OSU by meansof a die­sublimation

printer, which correctsfor theoriginal's fadedappearance.Theoriginal print seenin 1991waseven
sharperthan this. Notice the blemishin the sky in the upperright quadrantof both this print and
the one printed in To the Top of the Continent, which proves that the samenegative was usedto
print both of them. Correspondencewith LauraJ. Kissel,PolarCuratorat the Byrd PolarResearch
CenteratOSU,disclosedthatalthoughshesaid“OSU receivedtheentirephotographiccollectionthat
wasin Hurleyville, to the bestof our knowledge” andthat she“con�rmed this with Dr. Goerler, the
UniversityArchivist,” a numberof itemsseenby theauthorduringhis researchwerenot transferred
from Hurleyville to Columbus. Theseincluded: the clearoriginal print of Cook's summitpicture;
all of theoriginal 5 x 7 negativestakenon RuthGlacierin 1906;thefull original print of thepicture
reproducedon p.822of Cook& Pearyshowing Ed Barrill standingto the right of the tent; theclear
versionof the photo reproducedat the bottom of p.832in Cook& Peary. [E­mail messagesfrom
LauraJ.Kisselto KeithPickering,datedNovember13& 17,1997;January26,1998(quotedabove).]
Copies,possessionof author.
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Figure2: Cook's“summit” photographasit appearedin Harper'sMonthlyMagazine, May,
1907. Original caption: “THE FLAG ON THE SUMMIT OF MT. MCKINLEY, 20,300
FEETABOVE SEA­LEVEL” . The left andright edgeshave beencroppedandthesky has
beenpaintedout.
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Figure3: Cook's “summit” photographasit appearedoppositep.227in To theTop of the
Continent(1908).Originalcaption:“THETOPOF OURCONTINENT.Thesummitof Mt.
McKinley, the highestmountainof North America. Altitude, 20,390feet”. The left edge
hasbeencroppedmoreseverely thanFig.2, but the sky is original. Note feature[1], the
“distantpeak”(Mt. Grosvenor),at thecenterof theextremeright­handmargin.
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Figure4: Thefull, original print of thephotographthatappearedoppositep.239in To the
Top of theContinent, publishedherefor the�rst time. Cook's 1908caption: “SCENEOF
GLACIERS,PEAKSAND CLIFFS. Shoulderof Mt. McKinley, a cliff of 8,000feet. Ruth
Glacier, a freightcarrier of thecloudworld. TheGreatWhiteWay, where thepolar frosts
meetthePaci�c drift of thetropicaldews.” (His Harper's 1907articlep.833put thisscene
at 16,000feet.) View looksa little southof west­southwest,from atopFake Peak.Thetall
backgroundpeaksCooknamed(l. to r.) Mt. Church(8233ft), Mt. Grosvenor(8450ft), &
Mt. Johnson(8460ft), namesevidently not now recognizedby the USGS. (SeeFig.1 &
fn 33.) Detailsof this photographareenlargedasFigs.6(a)& 8(a). Photocourtesyof the
OhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.
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xA13), but hadhebeenableto, it would align correctly. But of course,themissingrock
pro�le madea duplicateof Cook's photoby Carterimpossible.Due to thechangein the
positionof thesnow corniceleadingup to thetop,ParkerandBrownewereunableto align
thepeakwith theforegroundin their1910photographs,either(Fig.7).
D2 Whatappearsto bea darkcave­like recess,but maybeonly a shadowedrock face,
is thesecondkey point [2]. This featureis visible in all versionsof Cook's pictureandis
especiallystriking whenCarter's andCook's original photographsarecompared.Notice
thedarkstreaksradiatingdown theslababove therecess.Only thetop slabof this feature
protrudesfrom thesnow in theParker­Brownephotograph.
D3 Thetop of theclif f adjacentto Fake Peakon theextremeleft is the third key point
[3]. This is the clif f prominenton the left­handmargin of Fig.4. This tell­tale featureis
croppedout of theversionprintedin To theTop of theContinent, but is just visible in the
Harper's version,thoughbadly retouched.Here, for the �rst time, a direct comparison
canbemadebetweenCook's two originalphotographs.Two detailsareincluded.Fig.8(a)
is anenlargementof the top of theclif f asit appearsin Fig.4. Fig.8(b) is taken from the
centerof theleft­handmargin of Fig.18.Noticetherockoutcropsandthatthesnow is lying
identicallyin all of thecrevicesin bothof thepictures,proving it is thesameclif f andthat
thepicturesweretakenatnearlythesamelocation.Notice,too,theorientationof thissame
clif f to Fake Peakin theParker­Brownephotograph(Fig.7).
D4 ComparingCook's original summitpicturewith Carter's photographdisclosessev­
eralotherinterestingpoints.Therockfacebelow Barrill musthaveactuallycollapsed,since
all otherfeaturesarereadilyidenti�able from onepictureto theother, exceptfor onelarge
rock,whichcanbeseenbelow andslightly to theleft of Barrill in Cook'soriginal (Fig.18),
thatalsohasslippedaway. In 1912,a strongearthquake centeredin theKatmaiPeninsula
violently shooktheareaimmediatelysurroundingMount McKinley. This mayhave been
responsiblefor thesechanges,whichareknown to haveoccurredsometimebetween1910,
whenParkerandBrownemadetheirphotographs,and1938whenTedLeitzell, a journalist
andsupporterof Cook, visited Fake Peakand�rst notedthat this rock facewasabsent.
Thereis no known publishedrecordof any othervisit to this spot in the intervening28
years.
D5 With the publicationhere— at last — of Cook's full “summit” photo, therecan
be no further argumentover its authenticity. It joins all the othersin To the Top of the
Continentthat purport to representCook's climb (beyond the Ruth Glacier) in being a
misrepresentationof both its locationandaltitude. Thepoint at which Barrill is standing
in Cook's photographis merelya few hundredfeetabove theglacier�oor and19.42miles
from theactualsummitof Mount McKinley. Its altitudeis only 5338feet,asopposedto
McKinley's altitudeof morethan20,000feet.

E Other photographic evidence

E1 As Cook's allegedly­high­altitudepictureswererevealed,oneby one,asmisrep­
resentations,his advocatesadvancedvariousexplanationsthat would avoid them being
brandedasoutright fakes. They weremix­upsat thepublisher's for which Cookwasnot
responsible,they said,or they weresubstitutionsfor photographsthathadbeenspoiledby
theharshconditionsencounteredathighaltitudesonthemountain.OneCookbiographer17

whoacceptedthatthesummitpicturewasprobablya fake,allowedthatin presentingFake
Peakasthe summit,Cook wasmerely“cutting a corner,” andstill maintainedthat Cook
hadactuallyclimbedthemountain.If Cookdid, thenhis narrative shouldsupporthim.
E2 Another important picture that turned up in the searchesof the Cook Society's
collection bearsdirectly on the veracity of Cook's account. That photographwas �rst
reproducedon p.822of my book,Cook& Peary: the Polar Controversy, Resolved.The

17 HughEames,WinnerLoseAll, Little, Brown, & Co.,1973,p.67.Seez9 xA2.
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Figure5: Photographof Fake Peakmadefrom a 50­footmastby AdamsCarter, July 21,
1957.Photocourtesyof BradfordWashburn.
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Figure6: [a] A 4.5xenlargementof themiddlepeakfrom theright of the“PeaksandClif fs”
photo,Fig.4 (p.49). [b] A 4.5x enlargementof the distantpeakin the backgroundat the
extremeright edgeof theoriginal “summit” photo,Fig.18(pp.68­69).Slightdifferencesin
shadows indicatethatFig.4 wastaken a little afterFig.18. Note thematchingpatternsof
barerockandsnow below thesummit,andthechevron­like rock patternsnearthebottom.
(Photoscourtesyof theOhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.)Both imagesin possession
(for 91years)of theCookfamily, thentheCookSociety— but never publishedby them.
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Figure7: Parker­Browne photographof Fake Peak. Photoby Merl La Voy, July 1910,
publishedin Winchester, J.W., “Dr. Cook,Faker,” Paci�c Monthly, March1911,p.253.The
white frameline correspondsto the �eld of view shown in Cook's “summit” photograph
as publishedin To the Top of the Continent. The other white line running acrossthe
whole imageis a defectcausedby a fold in the original page's middle. Notice that the
photographerwasunableto alignMt. Grosvenorwith Fake Peak's rocky outcropsbecause
thesnow cornicehadshiftedto theleft from whereit wasin 1906.Notealsotheorientation
(with respectto Fake Peak)of theclif f topseenon theleft margin of Fig.4.
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Figure8: (a)A 2.5xenlargementfrom theleft of the“PeaksandClif fs” photo,Fig.4(p.49).
(b) A 2.5xenlargementof theclif f top from theleft of theoriginal “summit” photo,Fig.18
(pp.68­69). Note the matchingpatternsof rock andsnow, especiallythe angularshadow
justbelow thetopof thesnowbank.Theslightdifferencesin sizeandorientationshow that
thevantagepoint of (b) is fartherfrom theclif f andlower & to theleft. Photoscourtesyof
theOhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.

imageprintedtherewasmadefrom a copy of a croppedtestprint, which I took asa study
recordfor my 1994reporton the Hurleyville papers.Fig.9 reproducesthe imageof this
sameprint from the (also­cropped)copy now at Ohio StateUniversity. Cook took this
photographfrom the eastsideof Ruth Glacier looking northwesttoward Mount Barrille,
which is prominentlyseenin thedistance.A very similar, but not identical,view (Fig.10)
appearedin To theTopof theContinent, but again,theoneCookpublisheddid notshow the
scene's mostsigni�cant element:thepresenceof Cook's distinctive tentin theforeground,
which was croppedout of the publishedprint. (In both 1991 and1994, I alsosaw the
original of this imagewhich includesthe �gure of Ed Barrill standingto the right of the
tent. An inquiry to the university's archives disclosedthat this, like the original sharp
summitprint, wasnot transferredto Columbusby theFrederickA. CookSociety.)
E3 In hisnarrativein To theTopof theContinent, Cooksaidhereachedaplacehecalled
GlacierPoint in two daystravel from his boat. After heleft thecampat GlacierPoint,he
next campedat “8000feetwithin afew milesof thenorthernridge.” 18 Theentryonp.65of
Cook's diary for thedayafterhecampedat “Cerac(sic) point” (ashecalledGlacierPoint
in his dairy) is headed“Ceracto 8300campat baseof N. Ridge.” He notesthathestarted
from GlacierPointat 8 A.M., andclaimsthathecampedat thebaseof theN. Ridgeat 6
P.M. Thereis no text in his diary to indicateany stopsor campsbetweenthesetwo points.
But this alleged8,300foot campdoesnot �t the locationshown in Fig.9 at all, beingfar
beyondit andmuchhigher. Fig.9wastakenat anelevationof 4767feet,neartheGateway
(thenorthendof theGreatGorge: seeFig.32),at thewesternfoot of thegraniteclif fs of the
Moose'sTooth.19 MountMcKinley is still 12.68milesdistant.Thislocationexactly�ts the

18 Cook,FrederickA., To theTopof theContinent, New York: Doubleday, Page& Co.,1908,p.202.
19 Washburn,Bradford,AmericanAlpineJournal, vol.11no.1[1958],p.15. Somemight arguethat

thecampat “Ceracpt.” couldbetheonepicturedhere,andthereforea differentcampfrom theone
describedby CookatGlacierPointin To theTopof theContinent. But this is disprovedby Cook'sown
texts. Cookdescribesthecampat “CeracPt.” in his diary aspitched“on a bedof picturesquemoss”
— exactly what is shown in thepictureof his campat GlacierPoint in his book,which hedescribes
thereason“a beautifulmoss­coveredpoint.” Thereis nomossshown in thepictureof thetentpitched
ontheglacialiceacrossfrom MountBarrille,andthereis nomossanywherenearthiscampsite,which
was locatedat the foot of the nearvertical cliffs of the Moose's Tooth. GlacierPoint can't be the
“2000 foot camp,” mentionedin Cook's diary, either, becausehe labelshis pictureof it in To theTop
of theContinent(opp.p.192)“Campat5,000feet”. Actually, thecampshown in hispictureatGlacier
Point is 3753feetabove sea­level. Thecorrectaltitudeof theMount Barrille campis only 4767feet,
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Figure9: Looking WNW towardMt. Barrille, a view similar to theonethatappearedop­
positep.193in To theTopof theContinent(Fig.10).NoticeCook's distinctive tentpitched
in thelower right handcorner, with glovesdrying on thetent line. Thatthis is not thefull
imagecanbe shown by taking a simpleratio. A 5 x 7 photographhasa ratio of 0.714
betweenits width andheight.But this photographhasa ratio of about0.8betweenits two
dimensions.[DIO note.Theabovereproductionmissesabit ontheleft edge,andtheimage
reproducedatCook& Pearyp.822missedasliverontheright.] A slidemadeatHurleyville
by theauthor, of aprint of thephotoshowsa ratioexceeding0.75.Therefore,asubstantial
part of the original imagehasbeencroppedoff. Theoriginal of this photographshowed
Ed Barrill standingto the right of Cook's tent. This original versionwasevidently not
forwardedby theCookSocietyto OSU. Photographcourtesyof theOhioStateUniversity
PhotoArchives. [DIO note.Umbralandparallacticanalysesshow thatFig.10wastakena
few minuteslaterandnearthetent,which is why thetentis not visible in Fig.10.]
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Figure10: View similar to Fig.9aspublished.

positionof camp8 on themapBarrill drew to accompany his af�davit (Fig.11). This was
the lastcampBarrill saidheandCook madeduring their journey up RuthGlacierbefore
turningback.
E4 In his book,Cook saysthey madesuch“splendidprogress”thathe setup his tent
for two hoursat lunch time20 on September10. So this photograph,it might be argued,
wasmadeat this lunchstop,thoughthereis no mentionof settingup thetentor stopping
for lunchin eitherCook'sor Barrill' sdiary text to supportthisconjecture.Moreover, Fig.9
wastakenonly about�v emilesfartheruptheglacierfrom their lastcampatGlacierPoint.
So this “splendidprogress”would be lessthanCook's reportedaveragefor the �rst two
daysof the trip. But it is thepictureitself thatprovesthat this is anovernightcamp,not
a lunch stop. The tent is pitchedon the glacierat the foot of the greatclif fs below the
Moose's Tooth. In thepicture,theshadows of theseclif fs extendacrosstheglaciertoward

not the5500feethementionsin his diary (p.59)for “Ceracpt.”. All of Cook's altitudesarein some
error, dueeitherto theinaccuracy of hisaneroidbarometers(whichherelieduponfor his readings)or
becausethey areeitherguessesor fantasies.But thedifferencein thegivenaltitudesfor GlacierPoint
andCeracPoint of only 500 feetassuresthat they arethe sameplace,sincethe actualdifferencein
altitudebetweenthetwo campsin Cook's photographsis 1000feet. Thedifferenceof 500feetmerely
follows Cook's patternof lowering the altitudesin To the Top of the Continentfrom the �gures he
recordedin hisdiary. For instance,thecampbeyondGlacierPointis putat8,300feetin thediary, but
only 8,000in thebook. Furthermore,in his diaryhesayshecampedat CeracPoint�rst, before going
into theFakePeakamphitheater. If CeracPointwasthecampoppositeMountBarrille, hewouldhave
hadto doubleall thewaybackto theamphitheaterandreturnto thesamecampbeforegoingonto the
8,000/8,300foot camp,somethingthatwould bedif�cult to do in oneday, andsomethinghedoesnot
claimto havedone,eitherin hisdiaryor hisbook. Besides,thiscourseof actionwouldmakenosense
whatever for a personwhoseintentwas(asCookclaimed)to climb Mount McKinley rapidly, before
theseasongot any later.

20 Thetext onpp.201­202of To theTopof theContinentreads:“Wetried to setupouralcohollamp
in abig grotto,but de�ectedcurrentsof air soblew theblue�ame thattheheatwaslost. Thetentwas
setup andin it webreweda pot of tea,atepemmicanandbiscuits,andrestedfor two hours.. .” Was
the lunchtentsetup in thegrotto? At thenext campCookspeci�cally statesthat thetentwassetup
“on theglacier.”
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Figure11: Barrill' smapaspublishedin theNew York Globe, October15,1909.Noticethe
positionof camp8, whichcorrespondsto thelocationshown in Fig.9.
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MountBarrille. Sincetheclif fs arein theeast,thisshadow patternindicatesearlymorning,
not lunch time. At noonthesunwould be in theSouth,andwould castno shadows from
easternclif fs acrossRuthGlacier, which runsnearlynorth­south.Also, Cookmentionsin
his text thathefoundthebestway to dry clothingwasnot to take it into thetent,but rather
to leaveit on thetentline overnight.A pairof glovescanbeseenhangingfrom theline. In
short,all of this indicatesthatthereseemsno morereasonto believe in theauthenticityof
hisnarrativewhenCooksaysthathestoppedfor lunchthanthereis to believeany of its far
morefantasticclaims.
E5 Cook's narrative in To theTop of theContinentskipsa dayhere;its September10
correspondingto his diary's September11. In the diary, September10 was devoted to
exploring theamphitheatercontainingFake Peak,wherehis fake summitphotographand
someof his othermisleadingpicturesweretaken. His publishedaccountremainsout of
kilter with hisdiaryfrom herevirtually all thewayto thesummit(seez8). Thisskippedday
mayexplain thepeculiarsplit entry in Cook's diary thatwas�rst notedin Cook& Peary,
wherethereis every indicationthat he arrivesat the summiton September15. Sincehe
did notwantto mentionanything in hisnarrativeabouttheFakePeaksidetrip, thatput the
diary oneday ahead,datewise, which would have necessitatedhis arrival at the summit
on September15, which the entry indicates. But it appearshe addedonemoreday, via
thesplit entry, stretchingthe time heallowedhimself to reachthesummitin his narrative
while allowing him to leaveout thedayhespentin theFakePeakamphitheater. Curiously,
he fails to make up for this day in his narrative. If a carefulaccountingof his recorded
activities is made,thereaderwill �nd him arriving at thesummiton the15thanyway, even
thoughhe saysit is the 16th! (A full discussionof the date­discrepanciesbetweenthe
primarydocumentsof Cook's climb is appendedto this articleasz8.)
E6 In December1906,Cook publisheda picture in Collier's magazinethat, from its
caption,implied it hadbeentakenfrom thesummititself.21 This picturewasnever again
reproducedbyCook,butanoriginalprintof it wasstill amonghisphotographsatHurleyville
in 1994. Its truegeographicallocationwasidenti�ed by Brian Okonek. It wastaken,as
weresomany of theothers,on thetributaryof RuthGlaciercontainingFake Peak.
E7 Otherunpublishedphotographsseenat Hurleyville also showed that the drawing
doneby RussellPorterfor To theTopof theContinentto illustrateCook'scampontheridge
at12,000feetwasbasedonascenephotographedjustbelow FakePeak.Theotherdrawing
by Portershowing Cook andBarrill dug into a hole for thenight on a near­vertical slope
at 14,000feethasbackgroundelementsdrawn directly from Fig.4, taken from Fake Peak
itself.22 Thusevery oneof the publishedillustrations,whetherphotographsor drawings,
directlyrelatedtoCook'sclimbhavenow beenshown tobemisrepresentations,fabrications
or frauds.Noneof themweretakenoutsideof theareathatBarrill saidheandCookvisited
duringtheirsojournonRuthGlacier, andtherearenounpublishedphotographsthatsupport
any otherconclusionbut that Barrill' s accountof eventsis generallyaccurate.A further
studyof Cook's narrative only diminishesthetrustthatcanbeplacedin Cook's versionof
events.

21 “The HighestMountainin America,” Collier's, December29,1906.Captionreads:“The summit
of Mt. McKinley, thetop of thecontinentpiercingarcticskiesat analtitudeof 20,464feet,on which
the American�ag wasplantedby Dr. FrederickA. Cook on September16th last.” The implication
seemsclearbecausethesummitof Mount McKinley is nowherevisible in thepicture.

22 SeeCook& Peary, pp.830­835.Sincethepublicationof thebook,themountainin thedistancein
theclearpicture(p.832,Fig.5of Cook& Peary) hasbeenidenti�ed astheMoose's Tooth,positively
con�rming thatthelocationascribedto it in Cook& Pearyis correct.
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F Newevidencefr om Cook's1906diary

F1 Until recently, thediariesof thetwomenhadbeenhiddenfromscholarlyeyes,Cook's
in the (generally23 unacknowledged)possessionof his descendents,Barrill' s effectively
lost24 in the immenseaccumulationof paperskept by RobertE. Peary. The openingof
thosediariesonly furtherunderminestheclaimof FrederickCookto haveascendedMount
McKinley in 1906. Barrill' s dairy is the lessimportant�nd of the two, sincethe entire
diaryappearedin areasonablyaccuratetranscriptionin theGlobeonthedayfollowing the
publicationof his af�davit againstCook. The Globearticle alsoreproducedin facsimile
thepagesof thediarycoveringthedaysof theclimb.
F2 Of specialinterestaretwo pagesfromCook'sdiary, herereproducedfor the�rst time
(Figs.12& 13). Theseshow sketch­mapsof RuthGlacier, onemoredetailedthantheother,
with several importantandtelling featureswhencomparedwith Barrill' s publishedmap
(Fig.11)andaf�davit. Oneis thepositionof two lakesonthemapondiaryp.46.Theselakes
werementionedby subsequenttravelersonRuthGlacier, andthey arekey to understanding
therateof Cook'sprogressuptheglacier.25 Notetheword“Lake” justbelow­left of center
of themaponp.44(Fig.12)betweenrules[13] and[14]. In hisdiary, Cooksayshecamped
at the secondlake the secondday out from his basecamp(September9), but Barrill' s
af�davit saysthis campwasmadethe fourth day out. Theword “camp” is written about
the samepositionon this map(betweenrules[11]­[12]) asBarrill indicatesthey camped
(fourth dayout) on his sketch­map(Fig.11),which accompaniedhis af�davit. Cookdoes
not indicatethathecampedin this areaat all in any of his writings. In fact,his published
narrativesaysthey campedatGlacierPointonSeptember9. Barrill saidin hisaf�davit that
Cookinstructedhim to rewrite andbackdatehis diary to shortenthetime to thebeginning
of theactualclimb in orderto make his time schedulelook moreplausible. If true,Cook
musthave donethesamehimself. Thesefeaturesof Cook's mapandinternalevidencein
bothdiariessupportBarrill' sassertion,especiallytheconfusionof datesthroughoutCook's.
Also, thetwo men'sdiariescoincidein otherrespectsthatsupportBarrill' sversionof events
andrefuteCook's.26

F3 A numberof small circleswith lines radiatingfrom themcanbe seenon Fig.12,
suggestingthatthesemight beremindersof thepositionsfrom which Cook's photographs
weremade.(Someof thesecirclesseemto have a line pointingaway, possiblyindicating
thecamera's direction.) Whencomparedwith the actuallocationsof the photographshe
published,all of the markscorrespondexactly with this interpretation. (The Top page
numbersoppositethesephotosarelistedto theright of Fig.12.)However, nosuchsymbols
canbe found on the tributaryglaciercomingin from theeast. This is wheremostof the
photographsCook misrepresentedas having beentaken on the actualclimb were taken
andwhereFake Peak,which hetried to passoff asMount McKinley's summit,is located.
Perhapstheabsenceof thesesymbolsfrom thispartof themapindicatesthathehadalready
decidedwhichphotographshewoulddisplayastakenontheclimb, andthathedidn't want
it known wherethey hadbeenexposed.

23 In a 1973/7/25letter to D.Rawlins, HeleneCookVetterstatedthatshepossessedCook's “diaries
andnotes”.But not evencontemporarybeliever HughEameswasallowedto plumbthem.

24 [Until foundby authorBryce. – ed.]
25 In 1996,theFrederickA. CookSocietypublisheda transcriptionof Cook's diaryaspartof anew

editionof To theTopof theContinent. Thetranscriptioncontainserrorsthatseriouslycompromisesits
value.For instance,onp.55,theword“lake” is twicetranscribedas“fork,” whichcompletelydestroys
the signi�cance of the passage.(A typed transcriptof the diary by HeleneCook Vetter, who was
intimatelyfamiliarwith herfather'shandwriting,alsotranscribesthesewordsas“lake.”) Thepublished
transcriptionfails to reproducethe two mapson pp.44& 46 (Figures12 & 13), which show the two
lakesbeingreferredto andwhichcontainothercrucialelementsnecessaryfor a correctinterpretation
of thediary's text. Thesemayall beinnocenterrors,but in light of thesociety's failureto forwardany
of Cook'soriginal1906negativesor theoriginalprintsof key photographsto OSU,thesemistakesand
omissionsin thesociety's transcriptionof thediary maybeviewedby somein amoreskepticallight.

26 SeeCook& Peary, Chapter28 for a full discussionof Cook's MountMcKinley claim.
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Figure12: Page44 from Cook's MountMcKinley Diary, 1906,publishedherefor the�rst
time. (Seez9 xF2[e].) Note theword “Lake” at rule [14]. Thetiny circleswith radiating
lines may indicateseveral positionsfrom which photoswere taken. The corresponding
photographsare indicated(by pages­oppositein Top of the Continent) at the right­hand
margin of the �gure. All of Cook's variouswritten notationsaretranscribedasthey fall
above the ruleson the page,left to right, asfollows: [1] Ruth gl. [2] McK.; 12. [3] 10;
11. [4] 9; slateBlack Pinnacles;N gl. [5] low tabletop. [6] 13000;shield;14000. [7] 8
Peaks[written vertically]; 5; 12000.[8] yellow peaks;quartz;26; 1000. [9] yellow peaks.
[10] Cerac.[11] 26; slate;passesinto Fidelegl. [12] 16; camp;cr.; granite.[13] Little Mc
[written vertically]; 15 milesfrom Boat. [14] 11mi; Lake; 5000. [15] 6000. [17] 3 1/2mi.
[18] cerac;cr. [19] Tokoshit;5; 6000. [21] gl. face.[22] 5 mi; Sept10.
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Figure13: Page46 from Cook's Mount McKinley diary, 1906,publishedherefor the�rst
time. Note the two circlesbelow the centerof the pagelabelled“L.” indicatingthe two
lakesmentionedin Cook's diary text. Thenotationsaretranscribedasthey fall above the
ruleson the page,left to right, as follows: [1] Ruth gl. [4] 4 peaks[written vertically].
[6] 1400; 1400. [8] 8 peaks10000[written almostupsidedown]; 1000; passes[upside
down]. [9] ceracs[written vertically]. [10] 26 mi; 2 mi [upsidedown]. [11] 4 mi; 6
miles[upsidedown]. [13] cr. [15] L.; Cariboupass[written vertically]. [16] Tokoshitnagl.
[written vertically]. [17] pass;L. [19] 6000. [20] Tokosha5000[written vertically]. [21] 5
mi; cr; 6000. [22] ceracs;granite.[Above bottomof page]ice face;mostly.
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G Cook'sdiary sketches

G1 The featureof Cook's diary that hasgeneratedthe mostcontroversysinceit was
madeknown to scholarsaretwo sketchesCookmadeon diary p.52. The �rst to theorize
on this pagewasa retiredCaliforniagardenernamedHansWaale,whohadlimited formal
educationbut was,in fact,aself­educatedgenius,holdingseveralimportantpatentsrelated
toastronomy. Waalehadaccesstopartsof Cook'sdiarythroughanintimatecorrespondence
with Cook's daughter, HeleneCookVetter. He becameabsolutelyobsessedwith trying to
prove Cook's climb authenticandcarriedon an interestingcorrespondencewith Bradford
Washburn about it for many years. After prolongedstudy and greatpersonalexpense,
heworkedout an ingenious,if circuitous,routefor Cookby which mostof thedirections
mentionedin hisdiaryandnarrativeandthephysicaldescriptionsCookgaveof themountain
in his1908bookcouldbeexplained.His routehadCookgoingovertheEastButtressof the
mountainanddown into theTraleikaAmphitheateron his eventualway to PioneerRidge,
by which WaaletheorizedCookgainedaccessto HarperGlacierasa routeto thesummit
by traversingthe north faceof the mountain. A numberof Waale's suppositionshave,
uponcloseexamination,provedto beno morethanwishful thinking on his part,27 but his
argumentthatCook'ssketchesondiaryp.52weredrawn from thecrestof theEastButtress
hastakenrootwith anothergroupof Cookbackerswhocontend,unlikeWaale,thatit holds
thekey to proving thatCookclimbedto thesummitfrom theEastButtressitself.
G2 Thishasbecomethemantraof TedHeckathorn,arealestateagentfromWoodinville,
Washington,andlongtimefriendof theFrederickA. CookSociety. In 1993heproposedthat
thesociety�nanceanexpeditiontotestthistheory, and,with severalCookSocietymembers,
hiredandaccompaniedseveralprofessionalAlaskanguidesasthey madeanattemptin 1994
to follow Cook'shypothesizedrouteto thesummitbywayof theEastButtress.Thisattempt
got no fartherthana point on its ridge at about11,000feet. The professionalclimbers,
whoweretheonly onesto reacheventhispoint,obtainedaphotographtherethat(they told
Heckathorn)seemedto matchCook's drawing. Even if this wereso, it would not come
closeto proving that Cook reachedthe mountain's summit,but the Cook Society's point
wasthat sucha matchwould prove Barrill' s versionof eventscorrupt,sinceif Cook did
reachthis point, it would bein directcontradictionof his partner's af�davit. That,in turn,
would lendcredibility to thecontentionthattherestof Barrill' sstorywasa lie, andthatthe
descriptionof theclimb containedin Barrill' s diary, which largely corroboratesCook's, is
morelikely thetruth. Althoughthis approachto truth mayseemmorethanunbiasedlogic
wouldallow, andfrom asourcepaidby aninterestedparty28 — justwhattheCookSociety
objectsto abouttheBarrill af�davit — anexaminationof any meritsit mayhave mustbe
basedonexistingdocumentaryevidence,notbaselessspeculation.
G3 Therehasbeenno commentfrom the membersof the FrederickA. Cook Society
aboutthe conclusive revelationsthat Cook's summitphoto is a fake, exceptperhapsfor
Heckathorn,who sayshe now considersall of the photographicevidenceagainstCook,
including, it may be surmised,his faked summitphotograph,“irrelevant” in light of the
“new evidence” in his favor. This evidenceis entirely embodiedin the photographof
PegasusPeak(Fig.14)obtainedby the1994climberson theEastButtress,which theCook
Societysaysmatchesoneof Cook's sketcheson p.52 of his diary (Fig.15). But neither
in Cook's book nor in his diary is thereany substantialsupportfor the notion that he
climbedMcKinley via theEastButtress.In fact,Cookmadetwo very de�nite statements
that indicatethathe claimedto have climbedKarstensRidge,andmost,if not all, of his
descriptionsgivenin hisnarrativeof theclimb tendto supportKarstensRidgeashisroute.29

So,wemustlook in detailatp.52to verify or rejectthepurportedmatchof Fig.14to Fig.15.

27 SeeCook& Peary, pp.830­835.
28 Strangeryet: seez9 xB3.
29 Cook,FrederickA., “Mount McKinley,” OverlandMonthly, February1912,p.106;My Attainment

of thePole (Mitchell Kennerley, 1913)p.534.SeealsoFig.31& caption.
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Figure14: PegasusPeak,aspublishedby theFrederickA. CookSocietyin its 1996reprint
of To theTopof theContinent.

G4 Cook's handwritingis extremelyproblematic,andno onecanguaranteeabsolutely
what someof his written wordsactuallyare;but my long familiarity with it makesmost
wordsdecipherable.Page52's inscriptionsareinterpretedbelow Fig.15. Whatcouldthey
mean?And canthey tell usanythingaboutwherethesedrawingsweredone,andwhatthey
represent?
G5 TheCookSocietymaintainsthatthetop sketchrepresentsPegasusPeakasviewed
from theEastButtressandthattheloweroneis adifferentmountain(FriendlyPeak),which
they identify asthe“Gun Sightpeak.” 30 of diary p.52. However, theSociety's view is not

30 For a full presentationof theFrederickA. CookSociety's argumentssee:Heckathorn,Ted,“Re­
openingtheBookonMount McKinley,” in Cook,FrederickA., To theTopof theContinent, Ninetieth
AnniversaryEdition. Seattle:Alpen Books,1996. Seealso: Polar Priorities vol.14,pp.1­21;vol.15,
pp.33­37;vol.16,pp.3­14;vol.17,pp.20­25.An experiencedmountaineerandmapmakerwhoattended
theFrederickA. CookSociety's symposiumin Seattlein 1994thatpresentedits “new evidence,” had
this to say: “My observationsof thewritingsandspeechesof theCookSociety's TedHeckathornhave
givenmenorespectfor hisself­proclaimedstatusas`PolarHistorian.' In theappendedmaterialin the
1996reprintof Dr. Cook's To theTop of the Continent, Heckathorn's text, photosandmapsprovide
very sloppy interpretationsof Cook's claimedroute. His crudely drawn map [his Plate2/12] has
Cook's routeto theEastRidgetakingastraightline from above `Sept9' acrossthecomplex systemof
ridgesandglaciersthatform themassifof theMoose'sTooth.And hisdelineationof Cook'ssupposed
descentroutefromthe`summit' followsadifferentline thanthe`ascent'route,straightdown thepeak's
uppereastface.FromtherehehasCookandBarrill descendingall theway to their basecampbelow
the Ruth Gorge in a meretwo days!” (Letter, DeeMolenaarto RobertM. Bryce, datedNovember
13, 1997.) [High praisefor Heckathorn's solid andcourageousresearch(in a non­Cookcontext) —
contributing crucially to accuratepolarhistory— canbe found in, e.g.,DIO 2.2 xF, DIO 2.3 z8 xB,
andScience1993June11. AlthoughHeckathornis apersonalfriendof DIO's publisher, ourpolicy is
to give discoverer­authorswide interpretive andcritical latitude,no matterhow closeto homeshafts
may strike. DIO readers,desiringdirect accessto Heckathorn's sideof thesematters,areurgedto
contacthim, by telephoneor fax,at425­844­9302.— ed.] It mightbeaddedto this thatHeckathorn's
map,althoughhis legendsaysit is derived, in part, from Cook's diary, is actually contradictedby
Cook's diary at every turn. TheSeptember8 campis in thewrongplace.Cooknever saidhecamped
anywherenearwheretheSeptember9 campis locatedby Heckathorn.Themapshows no campon
GlacierPointat all, even thoughCookpublisheda pictureof it. Heckathornhashim goingover the
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Figure15: Page52 from Cook's Mount McKinley diary, 1906. Transcriptionsof this
sketch's legends:[A] 8; [B] about750feethigherthanwestpeak(the�gure appearswritten
over, andmight be interpretedas150); [C] N gl.; [D] gl. [Cook's consistentabbreviation
for glacier]; [E] gl; [F] Eastridgecornice;[G] Bar. 24; [H] GunSightpeak;[I] seenfrom
gl. opp.Peak7.; [J] McK. from [or form.] Top. view from N (with a squiggleat theend).
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Figure16: Page52 of Cook's diary with thelabelssuppliedby BradfordWashburn super­
imposed.Notetheupperdrawing's similarity to Fig.17or Fig.25(asagainstFig.14),and
thelower drawing's similarity to Fig.17or Fig.27(asagainstFig.26).

acceptedby expertson themountain's topography. Brian Okonek,who hasbeenover the
areamany times,guesses31 that the diary p.52 sketchesareCook's views from the Ruth
Glacier region (thoughhe warnsthat the “terrible” imprecisionof the drawings hinders
pinningdown exact locationsfrom them): the lower sketchis a detail of theSouthPeak,
while theuppersketchis apanoramicrepresentationof McKinley'stwo summits.Bradford
Washburn agreedwith Okonek's essential�nding (that the upper drawing's subject is
McKinley) andwentfurtherby helpfully supplyingtheauthorwith a labelledcopy. Fig.16
is Cook's diary p.52, with Washburn's labels(identifying the uppersketch's prominent
features)superimposedon it.32 A comparisonof several photoswith Cook's drawings
shouldshow which theoryhasmorein its favor.
G6 Theweakestpartof theCookSociety's contentionis theclaim aboutwhat it calls
GunsightPeak. The pictureof it that the societypublished(Fig.26) hasno similarity to
Cook's sketchat all, beingfar too sharpa peakto matchit. However, Cook's sketch�ts
well with Okonek's andWashburn's theory. Fig.17is adetailof thesummittakenfrom the
directionof RuthGlacier. Noticethesimilarity of thewidth of thepeakandthepositionof
theridgesto thelower sketchonp.52,especiallythecurve of thecentralridgeline.

cliffs, asMolenaarsays,whenCookclearlydescribestraveling on theglacierat all times,andthenhe
hashim in a campacrossfrom Mount Barrille, of which thereis no tracein any of Cook's writings.
Also,Cook'sdiarymakesit veryclearthatthey descendedalongtheexactsamerouteasthey ascended,
sleepingin theuppermostigloo ontheirreturnfrom thesummit,andthetext expressesemotionasthey
passedtheholewherethey hadspentthenight duginto thesideof themountainonSeptember13.

31 Letter, Brian Okonekto BradfordWashburn, datedNovember22, 1992. Photocopy possession
of author. Letter, Brian Okonekto RobertM. Bryce,datedJanuary13, 1993. Possessionof author.
Okonekinitially wonderedif theuppersketchwasmadeslightly northof theGateway (RuthGlacier
North Fork). He& Washburnhave highadmirationfor Cook's genuinework in theMcKinley region.

32 Attachmenttoletter, BradfordWashburntoRobertM. Bryce,datedDecember14,1992.Possession
of author.
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Figure17: Summitof MountMcKinley, viewedfromalittle eastof southeast.Mt. Barrille is
atbottomcenter. (Solid line is CookSociety'shypothesizedEastButtressroute.)Compare
this view to Figs.15& 16,and32. Detail of aerialphotoby BradfordWashburn.
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G7 Thereferenceto “GunSightpeak”[H] onCook'ssketchisnottoaspeci�c mountain
peak,but rathera generaldescriptive termthencommonlyappliedto any peakcomingto
a sharppoint. In 1909, BelmoreBrowne describedthe clif f adjacentto Fake Peakas
a “gunsight peak” in his testimony beforethe ExplorersClub committeethat had been
appointedto look into Cook'sclaim. In Barrill' sdiaryherefersto thesummitof McKinley
asa “gunsight” peak. In his entry for September16, he says“we reachthe top at last at
about11A.M. to thegunsight.” Moreover, in hisaf�davit, Barrill quotesCook,himself,as
sayingof Fake Peak: “That point would make a goodtop of Mt. McKinley. It looks just
aboutlike thegunsightpeakwould look on Mt. McKinley,” which they hadbeenlooking
at from thesaddleof Fake Peak.Supportingtheveracityof Barrill' s quotationis the fact
thatit waspublishedin 1909,morethan84yearsbeforethepictureonp.52of Cook'sdiary
with its notationabouta“Gun Sightpeak”becameanissueor wasevengenerallyknown to
exist. Right underthelower sketch,Cookhaswritten “seenfrom gl. opp.Peak7.” Peak7
waswhatCookcalledMt. Dickey (9545ft) — or perhaps33 adjacentMt. Barrille (7650ft)
— nearthe north endof a row of peaksalongthe westernmargin of the GreatGorge of
RuthGlacier(seeFig.12,rules[5]­[7], or Fig.13,rule [8]; alsoFigs.1& 32), closeto the
placeEd Barrill saysthey turnedfor home.
G8 ClaudeRusk, a climber from Oregon, said of his view of the summit from the
Gateway in 1910: “The summit,seenfrom theupperglacier, is a very sharpsnow point,
althoughseenfrom theothersidesof themountainit hasmoreof a roundedanddome­like
appearance.” 34 The lower drawing, therefore,is certainlywhat the inscriptionsaysit is,
the sharp­pointed“Gun Sight peak” of McKinley asviewed from Ruth Glaciernearthe
Gateway at thenorthendof theGreatGorge,whereits conformationappears(Fig.27) to
form a sharppoint ratherthanlooking rounded,andwhich Cookreproduceson p.52with
reasonableaccuracy. Whatwas“seenfrom gl. opp.Peak7” if not “McK” itself (socited
on this very page)?Certainlynot FriendlyPeak,which when“seenfrom gl. opp.Peak7”
is largelyblockedby interveningmountains.35

G9 Theuppersketchis moreproblematic,but if we assumefor it no morethanrough
accuracy, theneventhis standardwill eliminatethedrawing asa representationof Pegasus
Peak.Noticethefollowing pointsof comparison:
Althoughsomemight initially seea roughconformitybetweenthephotographcirculated
by the Cook Society(Fig.14) andCook's sketch,whenthe actualPegasusPeaksceneis
enlarged(Fig.19),eventhis roughconformitydissolves.Thesharpdropof theslopeat the
left doesnot match,andneitherdoesthecontourof theoneat theright. Thesketch's line
labelled“Eastridgecornice”[F] runningacrossthepeakattheleft isnotpresentonPegasus
Peak.Noticealsothat theglaciernotedat [E] andthenearlyhorizontalareabetweenthe
two peaksareboth absent. This label (which shouldactually be the SouthButtress,as
BradfordWashburn pointsout) is signi�cant for anotherreason.
G10 This signi�cancelies in thesketchon p.50of Cook's diary (Fig.20),which shows
several peakssouthof the locationthat would be the vantagepoint of the upperdrawing
on diary p.52, if we acceptthat it representsMcKinley's twin summits. The large arrow
on Fig.12betweenrules[13]­[15] may indicatethe directionof thesketchon p.50. This
is supportedby the labelon thesketchitself, which says“From 1stbendBearings.” The
bendof the glacierreferredto canbe clearlyseenon Fig.13. If Cook madehis sketches
in sequence,p.50would be the �rst pageprevious to p.52availableto him, sincehekept
his narrative diary on theoddnumberedpages.If so,thenp.52would representa natural

33 Cookseemsto haveinitially countedthepeaks(the�rst sixof whichheestimatedonhisdiaryp.56
as“about10000feethigh”: Fig.30),from Mt. Churchnorth to Mt. Barrille, asseven in number, but
latersettledoneightasthecorrect�gure. (SeeFig.13,where“8” iswrittenoveroriginal“7”.) [Barrill' s
diarydrawing of Mts.WakethroughBarrillenumbersthemexactlyasin ourFig.1.] For Cook,thehigh
peaks'names,in S­to­Norder, wereChurch,Grosvenor, Johnson,Wake (double­peak),Bradley, etc.
(All identi�ed in Fig.1.) Healsosaw four morepeaksbeyond,in a line with theseeight: seez9 fn 30.

34 Rusk,ClaudeE., “On theTrail of Dr. Cook,” Paci�c Monthly, January1911,p.54.
35 Seez9 xD10.
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Figure18:
Thefull, originaluncroppedversionof Cook's “summit” photo,publishedherefor the�rst time. Sizeof theoriginalprint is 5 x 7 inches.

Detailsof thisphotographareenlargedasFigures6(b)and8(b). Photocourtesyof theOhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.
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Figure19: Expandedview of PegasusPeak,aspublished(unidenti�ed) by the Frederick
A. CookSocietyin Polar Priorities, vol.14(October1994),backcover.

progressionashemovedupRuthGlacier, andthearrow betweenrules[6] and[7] onFig.12
mayindicatethepositionfrom whichat leastoneof thesketchesonp.52wasdrawn, which
is “opp. Peak7.” But it is the label “East ridgecornice” thatde�nitely ties the two pages
together. Eachhasa similarly shapedridgewith this label,andon p.50themassifbehind
this ridge is unambiguouslylabelled“McK” — McKinley; p.52says36 at thetop: “McK.
from Top. view from N.” [J] SinceCookoftenwrotea summaryof whatwason his diary
pagesatthetopof eachpage,andthis is theonly non­horizontaltext onp.52,it wouldseem
that the entirepageis meantto representthe top of Mount McKinley itself viewed from
thenorthernendof RuthGlacier. Thusthis labelandthe fact that thedrawingson pp.50
& 52seemto overlap,supportsp.52asarepresentationof thesummitof McKinley, justas
OkonekandWashburn believe. But thekey to p.52mayhave beengivenus,ashasbeen
somuchelsein solvingthemysteriesof Dr. Cook'sdisputedgeographicalclaims,from his
own hand.
G11 In the upper­right cornerof diary p.50 is the number“52.” This seemsto be a
reference37 to the drawing on diary page52. This falls in line with Cook's tendency to
crossreferencewithin his diaries. Therearemany suchreferencesthroughouthis polar
notebooksof 1907­1909aswell assomeothersin his 1906McKinley diary.
G12 WhenEd Barrill' s diary wastranscribedin the Globe, only oneof the sketches
it containedwasreproduced.However, thebookhasa numberof otherinterestingdraw­
ings including one(Fig.21) which further supportsthe theoryof xG11. The sketchwas
unquestionablymadeat nearlythesamespotasCook's sketchon p.50. Both show “Little
McKinley” (a namepopularlyappliedto this38 peakby Alaskanprospectorsat the time
but no longerused)to the left andsimilar ridgeson the right. But Barrill' s sketchshows
the entiremassifbeyond andunambiguouslylabelsit “Mount McKinley from the south­
east.” (Compareit to Fig.17,keepingin mind thatthephotographwastakenfrom a higher

36 Possiblereading:McK [seen]from top [of a vantagepoint, e.g.,Fake Peak(seeFig.25)]. view
from N [point of GreatGorge]. Thelatterinterpretationis attractively consistentwith theveryspeci�c
noteelsewhereon thepage:“seenfrom gl. opp.Peak7”.

37 Justasthenote“Tokoshit54” on page50 mayrefer to theTokoshitnaglacier— andthusto the
“glacial notes”foundondiarypage54. [A speculative alternatereading:“CenterTokosh154”: a154�

compassbearingfor thecentralTokoshaMts. peak.— ed.]
38 [“Little McKinley” wastheold namefor modernMount Hunter(14573ft). The“Hunter” Cook

alsocitesondiaryp.50(Fig.20)wastheold namefor thehighest(13440ft) of KahiltnaPeaks.– ed.]
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Figure20: Page50 from Cook's Mount McKinley diary, 1906,sketchdepictinghis north­
west view from Ruth Glacier (seez9 fn 26). The notationsare transcribedas follows:
[A] left to right: From1stbendBearingsCenterTokoshit54 Pass31 obsPeak52; [B] left
to right: Foraker; Little McK 278; Hunter289.5;McKinley 302; off pointsof compass;
[C] Little McK. [D] Mt. Hunter;SW Ridge;McK. [E] EastRidge. [F] Mt. Hunteris part
of SE Ridge. [G] SwRidge1000feetlower thanEast.(Seez9 fn 26.)
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Figure21: Sketchfrom Barrill' sdiarymatchingp.50of Cook's,publishedherefor the�rst
time. PearyFamily papers,(RG401),NationalArchivesII, CollegePark,Md.

altitude.) The summitasdrawn by Barrill from this positionbearsmorethana passing
resemblanceto thecontoursof themountainin theuppersketchon p.52of Cook's diary.
G13 In theend,however, becausehis dif�cult writing leavesit opento interpretation,
andbecauseCookwasnot muchof anartist,39 showing little talentwith eventhesimplest
of subjects(andbecauseMcKinley wasfaroff, oftensurroundedby clouds),wemaynever
know the exact spotwherethe uppersketch on p.52 wasdrawn. It is just not accurate
enoughthatonecanmatcheachfeatureto reality, to everyone'ssatisfaction.EvenBradford
Washburn's labelsof the elementsin Cook's drawing areopento quibblesfor the same
reasons.But if weallow thesamestandardof only roughaccuracy usedby theCookSociety
to compareit to their photographof PegasusPeak,Washburn's labels�t far better, making
it highly probablethatFig.15wasmeantasa representationof McKinley's summit.
G14 Comparetheaerialphotograph(Fig.17)of theview of thesummitarea(from the
samedirectionasMt. Barrille) with the featuresWashburn haslabelled(Fig.16). Also,
compareCook'sdrawing with thesketchof thetwin summitsof McKinley asviewedfrom
thetopof FakePeakfrom BelmoreBrowne'sdiary(Fig.22),aswell asthesketchdrawn by
Ed Barrill from nearlythesamepoint (Fig.23)— a view Cookcertainlyhad. They arefar
moresimilar to Cook's drawing thanto PegasusPeak. It mayeven be thatCook's upper
sketchwasmadefrom thevery sameareaaswasBrowne's andBarrill' s — theFake­Peak
summitwhichCookcalled“the topof ourContinent.” Hereis whatCooksaidof thatview
in his p.59diary entry (z8 xB) for September10: “The top from heretwo peaksmiddle
gl. a way aroundthebreak,” exactly asshown in theupperdrawing on p.52. Also, Cook's
top note, “about 750 ft. higher than the westpeak” [B], is approximatelyaccurateas a
descriptionof thedifferencebetweentheheightsof McKinley's twin summits40 andsuch
a notationwritten justabove his sketchof themwouldbelogical if thedrawing wasmeant

39 [Skepticscannotbeheldhostageto Cook's artisticandotherlimitations. Wecannotevenbesure
thathedid not, e.g.,deliberatelyexaggeratetheheightof theNorth Peak,in orderto pretendthathis
vantagepoint washigherthanreality. — ed.]

40 TheNorthPeakis actually850feetlower than,andalmostduenorthof, theSouthPeak(z9 fn 1).
But, by Cook's perspective (looking morewestthannorth) the formermayhave appearedrelatively
muchfartheraway thanreality, becauseit is lower andKarstensRidgepartlyblocksit. (Alternatively,
Cookmight possiblyhave beenreferringto 20120ft­high KahiltnaHorn, just below­left of theSouth
Peak's summitin Fig.15;if so,thenhis notationwas“150 feet” insteadof “750 feet”. KahiltnaHorn
is c.1000ft west­southwestof thetruesummitand200ft below it: z9 fn 7.)

Robert M. Bryce Cook-McKinley Photos 1997 December DIO 7.2 z7 73

Figure22: BelmoreBrowne's diary sketchof the summitof Mount McKinley, from the
Fake Peakregion. Courtesy, McGregor Robinson.

Figure23: Barrill' s diary sketchof thesummitof Mt. McKinley from thesaddleof Fake
Peak,aspublishedin theNew York Globe, October15,1909.(Note: his “Glasierpoint” is
notGlacierPoint.)

to representthesummits.
G15 But Cook consideredthis view so importanthedid not trust it to his sketchesor
descriptionalone.Hemadeaphotographof it from thetopof FakePeak.Thisphotograph
(Fig.24)wasneverpublished,but it is now amongthephotographsatOhioStateUniversity.
An enlargeddetailof thisphotograph(Fig.25)correspondswell to theuppersketchof diary
p.52(Fig.16).
G16 If theCookSociety'sargumenthasany merit,thenit is only reasonableto askwhy
Cookwould lavish somuchattentionon PegasusandFriendlyPeaks41 (landmarkshaving
no relationto his allegedobjective),would draw themon thesamepage(whenthey areon
oppositesidesof theEastButtress),andlabelthepagethatbearsthemas“McK” — though
his diary hasnot a singleothersketchthat indicatesany portionof his actualroutebeyond
whereBarrill saysheturnedback.Commonsensealonewouldseemto ruleall of thisout.
(Seez9 fn 41.)
G17 Althoughthesketcheson p.52canobjectively prove nothingaboutCook's route,
muchlesstherealityof hisclaimto havereachedthesummit,therearemassifsof evidence
showing Cook'sdishonesttendencies,asalreadydetailed,in bothhisandhisonly witness'
writingsanddrawingsandCook'sown duplicitousphotographsof lowermountainsthathe
passedoff asscenesfrom his actualclimb, crownedby his fake “summit” photograph.
G18 A far more fruitful approachto gettingCook's narrative in line with a possible
routemight have beenbasedon thework of HansWaale(xG1). EvenBradfordWashburn
hadto admit thatWaale's route�t Cook's sketchynarrative in all detailsandmadesense
of themany directionalinconsistenciesit hadseemedto contain.However, uponstudyof
Waale's proposedroute,any reasonablepersonmustagreewith Washburn's objectionthat
CookandBarrill hadneitherthetimenortheequipmentto makesuchacircuitous42 journey
andreturnto their basecampon thetimescheduleCookclaimedfor his attempt.

41 Neithernameappearsto berecognizedby theUSGS.
42 [Washburnnotesthatnoonehasever eventried to climb McKinley by Waale's route.— ed.]
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Figure24: Cook's photographmadefrom atopFake Peak,betweenthevantagepointsof
Browne's andBarrill' s diary sketches(Figs.22& 23, respectively), publishedherefor the
�rst time. Mt. McKinley's twin summitscanbeseenin thedistance,theSouthPeak's top
partly obscuredby clouds. Notice theblack rocksat theextremeright center, very much
like thosein Barrill' s sketch(Fig.23);noticealsothecentralsnow point,which is labelled
“GlasierPoint” on Fig.23.Photocourtesyof theOhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.

Figure25: An enlargementof thetwin summitsof MountMcKinley from Fig.24.Compare
to upperdrawing of Fig.15. Photocourtesyof theOhioStateUniversityPhotoArchives.
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H Summary of evidence,and a conclusion

H1 Thepatternof belief in FrederickCook's claim to have climbedMount McKinley
in 1906hasbeenoneof almostcontinuousretreat. At �rst it seemedonly just to defend
him. He appearedto be in anunequal�ght thathadbroughtto bearuponhis North Pole
claim,andsubsequentlyhis McKinley climb, thevastmonetaryresourcesandin�uence of
thepowerful menwho hadbackedRobertE. Peary. Furthermore,thereseemednothingin
Cook's previously genuinerecordof achievementasanexplorerthatindicatedthathewas
a manof lessthanordinaryveracity. A closestudyof Cook's prior career, however, has
revealeda patternof �nancial indiscretionsanda life­long tendency to embellishhis real
experiencesthatwerenotknown atthetimeof theinitial controversyoverhisMcKinley and
Polarclaims.43 In comparisonto falseclaimsof suchgreatfeatsof exploration,however,
even thesewould have seemedminor offenseshad they beenknown. The testimony of
thewitnessesagainsthim seemedeitherbribedor faked. (Though,few Cook­supporters,
eventoday, haveconsideredthepossibilitythatEdBarrill waspaidto recanthisformerlies
ratherthanto invent new ones.)44 But over the years,asit wasincontestablyshown that
eachof Cook's purportedlyhigh­altitudephotographswerelocatedatdifferentplacesthan
he attributedthem,Cook partisansmadeexcusesto relieve him of the responsibilityfor
their erroneouscaptionsor to explain themaway in themostinnocentway. All but a few
of theseadamantlydefendedCook's “summit” phototo theendasthe truesummitof the
greatmountain.45 Now thatit, too,provesto beafake,andasnew evidencehasprovedthat
eventhedrawingsthatappearedasillustrationsof thespine­tinglingincidentsof his climb
in To theTopof theContinentarefabricationsbasedonphotographsof completelydifferent
placesthanthey aresaidto represent,46 his ardentsupportersdismissthis patternof deceit,
includinghisfakedsummitphotograph,as“irrelevant” (xG3)to theissueof whetherhedid
climb themountainor not.
H2 The evidenceagainstCook is neitherirrelevant nor incidental,however, because
(z9 D9) it is objective, not subjective, like the “new evidence” the Cook Societyoffers
in his favor. Even subjectively, the Cook Society's theoriessuffer whencomparedwith
other, morelogical interpretations.TheevidenceagainstCookis centralandspeci�c to the
questionof whetherCookwasanhonestman,incapableof suchgranddeceitsasthoseof
which hewasaccused,andit is baseddirectlyupontheprimarydocumentsleft by Cook's
own handin the form of thephotographshemadeandthecontentsof theactualdiary he
kept,which areimmutable.
H3 This, afterall, is thecentralquestion— Cook's character. And all of this primary
documentationpointsconsistentlyto the conclusionthat Cook wasnot an honestmanin
eitherhis claim to have climbedMcKinley or to have attainedthe North Pole,47 but that
bothclaimswereknowing frauds.Despitethis, theinterestedpartisansof theFrederickA.
Cook Societyaskthe world to believe that a manwho hasbeenproven untruthful by all
the physicalevidencethat shouldsupportany honestreport, is truthful whenhe presents

43 SeeCook& Peary, Chapter27, for a full discussionof Cook's earlycareer.
44 Edward Barrill waspaid a portion of a $5,000bankdraft drawn upon the personalaccountof

ThomasH. Hubbard,presidentof thePearyArctic Club. A witnesssaidBarrill receivedabout$1,500.
Theoriginal bankdraft,datedOctober1, 1909,is still amongthepapersof RobertE. Peary, RG 401,
NationalArchivesII, CollegePark,Md.

45 Part of the fake “summit” photois usedasa recurringlogo on the backcover andtitle pageof
theFrederickA. CookSociety's 1996reprintof To theTop of theContinent. Below thereproduction
of the full picturewithin the book (its Plate1/16), underthe unequivocal caption: “THE TOP OF
OURCONTINENT”, thesocietyraisesthesequestionsto suggestits authenticity:“Wasthereexposed
granitein 1906?How muchdid the1912earthquake changethecon�gurationof thesummit,andhow
deepis theicenow?” Apparentlysincethe1997publicationof Cook& Peary, someCookiteshaveat
lastrealizedthatCook's “summit” photographis probablya fake. Seenote49below.

46 SeeCook& Peary, pp.830­835.
47 SeeCook& Peary, Chapter29, for a full discussionof Cook's claim to have reachedtheNorth

Polein 1908.
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Figure26: FriendlyPeak(height8245ft), aspublishedby theFrederickA. CookSociety
in its 1996reprintof To theTopof theContinent, Plate2/7. (Seez9 xD10.)

nothingbetterthanhis bareword in supportof his two mostspectacularclaims. Thereis
simply little morethanthatto supportthepropositionthatFrederickCookstoodat thetop
of thegreatestmountainin NorthAmericasevenyearsbeforeanyoneelse,or everattained
theNorthPoleunresuppliedandreturnedto tell aboutit, anaccomplishmentthatwassurely
a physicalimpossibility usingnineteenthcenturytechnologicalmeans.Furthermore,the
only witnessesto both of theseclaimedachievementscontradictCook's bareword, and
eachof their statementsstandsthetestof credibility thatCook's consistentlyfails.
H4 In the wake of Cook's fall from heroto humbug in 1909,oneeditor nevertheless
declared,“Therewill bea`Cookparty' to theendof time,nomatterhow strongtheevidence
broughtagainsthim in the future, no matterif he madepublic confessionto fraud. . . .
This sentimentof personaldevotion andchampionshiponcearousedis oneof the most
powerful and indestructibleof humanmotives.” 48 The continuingstory of the efforts to
defendFrederickA. Cook,despiteall theevidencethathasaccumulatedagainsthim since
then,provesthatpoint,at least,beyondall cavil. 49

48 “Psychologyof theCookFake,” Independent, December30,1909,pp.1513­1514.
49 [A recentarticlehasseveralgoodexamplesof theleapsof faith Cook's partisansarepreparedto

indulgein to keepthissentimentintactandtheirown self­interestsalive. TedHeckathorn,while tacitly
acknowledgingthesummitphotoisafake,still excusesCook's lackof any photographicevidencefrom
any partof his allegedclimb: “I'm convincednow thatDr. Cookwascarryingbad�lm packs,” he is
quotedassaying. “He'd boughthis �lm early in theyearandnow it wasSeptemberandthey'd been
goingthroughstreamsandfog andheavy snow for months.His realsummit�lm wasprobablywater­
damaged,soheusedotherphotosto expresswhatthesummitlooked like.” (Donahue,Bill, “Dissent
on Denali,” Climbing, May 1, 1998,p.116.) Heckathornfails to explain why these“bad �lm packs,”
which he is convinced(z9 fn 28) weredamagedby ageandexposureto the elements,producedthe
splendidsequenceof picturesof every placeCookactuallyvisitedonRuthGlacierright upto thevery
point Ed Barrill saysthey turnedbackfor their boat,but without exceptionfailedto recordany scene
beyondthatpoint right up to theverysummititself. Healsofails to explainwhy anhonestmanwould
take a �ag­raising fake summitphotobefore heever madeanattemptto reachtheactualsummit.]
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z8 Cook'sCurious Timetable

A A “spool of mysteries”

A1 Attemptingto extractaclearandconsistentnarrativefrom FrederickCook'svarious
accountsof his climb of Mount McKinley in 1906 is a dauntingtask. For many years
anyonewho wishedto do sohadonly the two publishedaccountsin Harper's andTo the
Topof theContinentto puzzleover. It might besaidof thestorythey contain,asDr. Cook
saidof the“supra­cloudland”heonly imaginedhehadvisited,“It is dif�cult to graspthe
threadwith which it rolls up its spoolof mysteries.”
A2 Exceptfor BradfordWashburn,1 mostreadershave beensohopelesslydivertedor
confusedby the many verbal�ights of fancy, digressionsandasidesin Cook's published
writings,thatthey havenevernoticedthatthedayto daysequenceof eventsCookdescribes
comesup onedayshortof thedatehesayshereachedthesummit,September16. Turning
to his 1906diary only confusesthe issuefurther, sinceit containsalternateaccountsfor
two of thedays,hasanadditionaldaynotdescribedin Cook'spublishednarrativesandstill
comesuponedayshort.
A3 EdBarrill sworethathisdiaryentriesrecordingtheeventsof theclimb weredictated
to him by Cook. They aresomewhat morein line with what is generallyacceptedasthe
outlineof Cook's attempt.But they alsocontaintheextradayleft out of Cook's published
reportsandarethereforeoutof sequenceby adaywith Cook's publishedstorymostof the
way. Becauseit retainstheextraday, Barrill' saccountis theonly onethatactuallyreaches
thesummitonSeptember16.
A4 Accordingto HeleneCookVetter, it wasexactly this “mixup in dates”thatcaused
her to keepsecrether recovery of her father's diary in the1950s. Theseinconsistencies,
both internally and with Cook's eventualstory, condemnCook's diary as a fabrication.
Conversely, thesevariationsand differencesfrom his eventually publishedreportsalso
indicatethatCook's of�cial accountwasa story improved andadjustedasit evolvedand
notonebasedoneventhecontentof his own originaldiary, muchlessactualexperiences.
A5 To allow thereaderto “graspthethread”of this tangledweb,thethreeaccountsof
theclimb arehere(xB) compareddayby day. Noteson thecontradictionsthey containas
well asotherpointsof interestfollow this comparisonfor eachday. TheHarper's article,
being in almostevery respectno more than a word­for­word, but shorterversionof the
accountin Cook's book, is not examinedherein detail, but is only calleduponwhena
simpli�cation of theconvolutionsof thebook's text is needed.
A6 Barrill' sdiaryfor thedaysof theclimb is brief, informal,unscienti�c,andoccasion­
ally humorous.Cook's is evenbriefer, with even lessdetail thanBarrill' s,andvery sober.
It generallycontainsno scienti�c notesotherthanbarometerreadings,temperaturesand
a few compassbearings.As wasCook's habit,his runningaccountis written on theodd
(right­hand)numberedpagesonly, his notesandsketchesoccupying the even (left­hand)
ones.Cook'sdiaryhasalargenumberof blankpages.Hegenerallysetsdown acharacteri­
zationof thecontentof eachpagein alabelatthetop,or givesaheadingwhichsummarizes
eachdatedentry. Therefore,it is easyto outline. Thenarrative in Cook's book is, on the
otherhand,a “spoolof mysteries,” ramblinganddiffuse,requiringconcentrationandoften
inferenceto decipher. Sothereis far moreroomfor opinionaboutjust whathappenedon
whatday, thoughthereareseveralveryde�nite timecuesthathelpcheckthevalidity of any
inferences.Thusanunderstandablechronologycanbeproducedwith careandpatience.

1 AmericanAlpineJournal vol.11no.1[1958]p.6.
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A7 In the summarythat follows, anything in quotationmarksis a direct extract from
the item in question.Therestis paraphrase.Thenotesareaimedat giving insight to any
readerattemptingto cometo gripsonly with whatCook saysthathe did — not with the
truth of whathesaidhedid, which is a far morechallengingproposition.However, even
thedif�culty of doingtheformergoesa long way towardsettlingthelatterpropositionby
suggestingreasonswhy theseconfusionsin Cook's texts exist.

B Daily Comparisons

In thecomparisonthatfollows,eachdayof theclimb is numberedin sequenceandits date
is given. Thethreesourcesarecomparedfor eachof thedaysCooksaidhewasengaged
in the climb of Mount McKinley: BD = Barrill' s diary; CD = Cook's diary; TTC = the
narrative in To theTopof theContinent; BA = Barrill' saf�davit of 1909;HM = theaccount
in Harper's Monthly Magazine. Barrill' s diary is unpaged;the pagesreferencedin the
othersaregiven. Thequotationsherearefrom theoriginal diaries,not theinaccurateand
corrupt transcriptionspublishedby the FrederickA. Cook Society. All other accounts,
andthereareseveral incidentalreports,areleft asidedueto thefact thatthey arereported
secondhandandare,therefore,strictly hearsay. Barrill' s af�davit of 1909purportsto be
whatactuallytranspiredwhile heandCookwerealonetogetheronRuthGlacierin 1906.

Day 1: September8
BD: “Wereachtheice clif fs at 7.30PM”
CD, version1, p.45: No heading. “Crosseda creekandcampedalong the �rst ice

walls.”
CD, version2, p.51: No heading.Cook,Dokkin, andBarrill setoff with heavy packs

to exploretheglacier.
TTC p.195: “We startedfrom the[boat] Bolshoywherethealtitudewas1000feet,on

themorningof the8thof September.”
Notes: It is only the�rst dayandtherearealreadycomplicationsaplenty. It is unclear

from thetwo diarieswhenDokkin, CookandBarrill startedfrom their boat. BA saysthat
onSeptember9 “Dr. CookandI startedalonefor thepurposeof exploringMt. McKinley.”
Barrill' s mapsaysthey left theboatthe “morning of the8th,” but sinceDokkin is saidto
have turnedbackafter thesecondday out, this would seemto imply they left on the7th,
but at its endBA saysDokkin turnedbackonSeptember10. CD p.47impliestwo previous
traveling camps(seebelow), but this might becorrupt,becauseCookapparentlysetback
his dates,andso this might be thedescriptionof a later day thanthe dategiven. On CD
p.43Cook writes: “On the6th day we pulled into the TokoshitnaandthereBrill make a
dock for theBolshoy. Johnbaked thebreadandon thenext daySept.9we startedfor the
gl.” Cook left with Dokkin andBarrill in his motor boaton August31, so the “6th day”
outwith thelaunchwouldbeSeptember5, sothe“next day” couldnotbeSeptember9. In
TTC, however, Cook de�nitely setsSeptember8 asthe �rst day of theclimb, so we will
observethisconventionthroughout.Noticethattherearetwo completelydifferentversions
of September8 on two completelydifferent pagesin CD. It appearsthat the “second
version” is anattemptto move theprogressforwardup RuthGlacieron the�rst two days
to allow longerfor theseriousclimbing later, sincethedistancecoveredis fargreaterin the
secondversionthanthatrecordedin the�rst. BA saysthatall theearlyentriesin BD were
adjustedbackward for this purpose.Both BD andCD show evidencethat someof these
earlydateshave beenchanged,Barrill' s beingerasedandCook's written over. BA states,
however, that the eventsrecordedup to September8 in BD aretrue. The �rst versionof
CD matchesBD; theseconddoesnot.

Day 2: September9
BD: “Wetake to theice today.”
CD, version1, p.47: No heading. “Last night andthe night beforewe madesuperb

campsbesidethegl.”
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CD, version2, p.55: Entry headed:“N. faceof Gl. to 2nd Lake”. Cook mentions
stoppingfor lunch15milesfrom theboatat the�rst lake.

TTC p.196: “On the eveningof the secondday we took to the ice, crossedthe �rst
northerlytributary, andcampedonabeautifulmoss­carpetedpointabout�fteen milesfrom
Mt. McKinley.”

Notes: Thereareagaintwo versionsontwo differentpages.NeitherCD versionagrees
with TTC, but the �rst versionpartially agreeswith BD. Thetwo lakesmentionedcanbe
seenon themapon p.46of CD, andbotharefar shortof the“moss­carpetedpoint” Cook
latercalledGlacierPoint. BA saysthey did not campat GlacierPointuntil thesixth day
out,September13.

Day 3: September10
BD: “We seena higherplacehereso we moved campup this morning. . . . I don't

think we cangoany higherin thisdirection. . . Campedin 3 feetof snow to night.”
CD p.59: Entry headed:“Cerac& ampthexp.” It describesthecampat Ceracpt. “on

abedof picturesquemoss.. . . madeascoutingtrip into ampth.” Thenthey “ret[urn to] the
big gl[acier]”. Cookdescribes(z7 xG14)thetopof McKinley asseenfrom this location.

TTC pp.201­202:They continueup theglacier, making“splendidprogress”;they stop
for lunch for two hours. “Before dark we pitchedthe tenton theglacierat analtitudeof
8000feetwithin a few milesof thenorthernridge.”

Notes: “Ceracpt.” (a misspellingof serac)waswhat Cook calledGlacierPoint in
TTC. (Seez7 fn 19.) CD describesthe side trip into the amphitheatercontainingFake
Peak,andBD seemsto imply thesame.However, TTC skipsthisdaycompletelyandthus
is now oneday aheadof CD. Unlike the �rst two days,thereis only oneversionof the
subsequenteventsin CD for therestof theclimb from hereon. BA saysthat they visited
theFake PeakamphitheateronSeptember12,andcampedtherein thesnow. Accordingto
BA, they did notcampatGlacierPointuntil thenext night.

Day 4: September11
BD: Barrill complainsthat it wasso cold andhis sleepingbagwasso dampthat it

preventedhim from sleeping,anddescribestheglacierat thispointas“rough” and“scarry.”
He saysthey areabout�v e or six milesfrom thetopof MountMcKinley at this point.

CD p.65: Headingreads:“Ceracto 8300campat baseof N. Ridge.” Cookcomplains
of his dampbagpreventinghim from sleeping.

TTC pp.204­210:Cook mentionsthey arenow 35 miles from their startingpoint (or
about5 mi from thesummit). “Wechosethelateralmoraineof theseracof the�rst glacial
tributary asa routeinto an amphitheatre.” They drop in the snow andeatpemmicanfor
lunch. Thenthey climb the ridge and�nd themselveson the divide wherethe arctic air
currentsmeetthetropicalones.They build a snow houseat 12,000feet.

Notes: CD andBD agreeasto dateandevents. TTC is still onedayahead.BA says
all theseeventsandthosefrom thispoint onare�ction, andthatthenightof September14
wasspentabouthalf way betweenGlacierPointandtheGateway (seeFig.32). Thecamp
shown in Fig.9(Gateway) is theoneof thenightof September15,accordingto BA, which
saysthatthey wentnofarthertowardMcKinley thanthiscamp.Fromhereon,thealtitudes
givenfor thesameplacesin CD andTTC donotagree.

Day 5: September12
BD: “It is 8000feethighwherewe start.” They make a snow houseat12,000feet.
CD pp.71& 73: Entry headed:“8300 to 12100ft. Snow houseN. Ridge. BaseN.

Ridgeto top of Ridge.” They build a snow houseat the top of theridge. Cookdescribes
miragesandthemeetingof thearcticandtropicalair currents.

TTC p.213:After anhourof observationsthey setoff. “We. . . startedonthemorning
of September12th”; p.217:They spendthenight ropedtogetherin a ditchat 14,000feet.

Notes: BD andCD agree,but TTC remainsonedayahead.
Day 6: September13
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BD: “Wecampedhereatanelevationof 14200. . . Wehadto make aholein thesnow
tonight.” Barrill statesthey are“on themainridg — Thatgoesto thetop.”

CD p.77: Entry headed: “12,100 to 14,200. cut a hole in the side clif f after clif f
step­cutting.” Cookcomplainsof a violentheadache.

TTC pp.218­221:At daybreakthey decideto goon. “Soonafternoonweswungfrom
thear̂eteeasterlyto theglacier. . . to thegatheringbasinnearthesummit.” Thenight in
theditchhadexhaustedthem,so“underthesecircumstancesit seemedbestto seeka good
campingspotontheglacierwith aview to restingfor adayto recuperateandstoreupforce
for the�nal spurtof theupperascent.” They campearlyandbuild asecondsnow house.

Notes: CD andBD continueto be together, but TTC is still one day ahead. Here
somethingstrangehappensin TTC. Thetext suggeststhatthey might take thenext dayoff
to rest,but it doesnot speci�cally saythey did soanywherein thesucceedingpages.On
p.221,after they build thesnow house,thereis a long digressionincludingwhatseemsto
be a recapitulationof the sensationsof the climb up to thatpoint. Therearemusingson
the view from the icy ditch of the night before,the unrealityof the whole presentscene,
clouds,colors,angels,boyhoodnotionsof heaven, the peculiardark sky, andthenCook
statesthat “we wereableto build a snow houseandin it we packed ourselvesfor a long
rest.” Whatarewe to make of this? Onp.221hehasalreadymentionedbuilding thesnow
house,andhe is clearly insideit cookingdinner. By the endof his musingson p.224he
is building a snow houseagain. This might be interpretedastwo differentsnow houses,
but theactionin betweenseemsto bepurelymental.Althoughthereis node�nite mention
of two dayspassing,two might be inferredfrom the contentof the reminisces.But the
headingof thechaptersays“from 16,300to 18,400,” implying only two camps,soanother
dayof travel anda third snow houseseemsimprobable.Thereis no mentionof a restday
in CD, andBD's time scheduledoesnot allow for oneat all, aswe shall see. Likewise,
thereis nomentionof a third snow housein eitherof thediaries.This questionof whether
or not they restedoneentiredayis important,however, andwill bereturnedto later. Later
in CD Cookmentionsa campat 15,600,andBD mentionsthelatterasthealtitudeof their
�rst returncamp,but thisaltitudeis notmentionedanywherein TTC. Referringto HM for
guidance,we �nd thetwo pagesof musingsin TTC areabsent,andthereis no mentionof
eventhepossibilityof “restingfor adayto recuperate.” Onthisevidence,thetwo mentions
of building theigloo in TTC seemto bemerelycarelesseditingof theadditionalmusings
into thealreadyexistingmagazinetext, whichcontainstheexactlywordedsecondreference
to building thesnow house,but not the�rst.

Day 7: September14
BD: “We hada harddaysclime today. . . . We madea snow househere.” (Theentry

doesnotgive anelevation.)
CD p.85: Entry headed:“15,600 Snow House2 to top vally”. Therearethesetwo

notes:“8 Am 15,600temp� 14.5.Snow House2; 7 Pm18,200temp� 15.4topvally” He
saysthey stoppedearly to attendto Barrill' s nosebleed“and alsoto preparefor our last
sprintto­morrow.”

TTC pp.224­226:“The following morning,thesixth dayof our climb, we kickedout
the snow block which madeour door. . . . Startingfrom camp,at 16,300feet, . . . our
progresswasgood. . . After prodigiouseffortswewereforcedto campat18,400feet.” On
p.227,Cookdescribestheirdif�cult nightandcallsit “This lastnightof theclimb.”

Notes: As HansWaalelikedto say: “Mystery, Mystery!” Herethespoolgrows very
tangled.Notice thatBD givesno altitudefor this snow house.CD identi�es it as“Snow
House2” [not 3, notice]andplacesit by his headingandtemperaturenoteat 15,600feet,
an altitude,aswe have seen,that is not mentionedat all in TTC, but is identi�ed asthe
altitudeof their�rst returncampin BD (seeentryfor September16below). Yetin thesame
entry, Cookgivesatemperaturereadingandelevationfor “top vally,” indicatinghereached
18,200feeton this day. Also, heheadsthepage“Snow House2 to top vally,” indicating
sucha progression.Finally, he saysthat they plan to make their “last sprint to­morrow.”

Robert M. Bryce Cook's Timetable 1997 December DIO 7.3 z8 81

This leavesnoaccountin CD of how heandBarrill got from theicy ditchat 14,200feetto
theplacethey built “Snow House2.” In otherwords,eitheradayis skippedherein CD, or
two daysarecombined.SoCD is now onedayaheadof BD andhasthuscaughtup with
TTC, which hadbeenonedayaheadof bothsinceSeptember10. Noticealsothat in TTC
Cooksaysthatthis is the“sixth dayof ourclimb” whichit couldnotbe,nomatterhow you
countit up. If you countfrom September8, it is theseventhday. If you countfrom when
they startedseriousclimbing on September11, it is only the fourth day. Also, asnoted
above, thediscrepanciesin altitudesaregrowing largerbetweenTTC andCD, in thisentry
they areasmuchas700feetapartatonepoint. However, CD andBD continueto agreeas
to altitudes.This is goodevidencefor thejoint forgeryBA claims,aswell asfor the idea
of aninventedstorythatis beingimprovedin TTC, sinceit no longermatchestheoriginal
diaryevenin speci�c detailslike thealtitudesof Cook's camps.

Day 8: September15
BD: “We reachedthesaddleabout4 PM. This is about18200. . . . We will make the

topor frees.”
CD p.93: Entry headed:“18.200 in the split tent.” “At dawn beforesunrisewe are

readyfor the �nal assault.” He givesthesenotes: “Bar. 5 am. 18,150temp� 16.5. �ne
snow. 10am.Top. 20400temp� 16 — somesnow.”

TTC p.232:“Curiousexperiencethis.”
Notes: Curiousindeed!UnderSeptember15,CD saysthatatdawn they are“readyfor

the�nal assault,” andat5 AM of thatdaythey areat18,150­18,200feet. At 10o'clock they
areat “Top.20400,” in otherwords,on thesummit.Theonly troubleis, the“�nal assault”
andarrival at thesummitis supposedto have happenedonSeptember16. CD continuesto
beaheadof BD, whichsaysthatthey didn't arrive at 18,200feetuntil 4 PM. Accordingto
thechronologyin thetext of TTC, they spentthe“last nightof theclimb” onSeptember14,
which alsoimplies that the eventssubsequentlydescribedaretaking placeon September
15,whichwouldputCookat the“Topof theContinent”onedayearly, also.Theonly way
wemightexplain thisaway is by sayingthatCookandBarrill actuallyrestedfor oneentire
day assuggestedby the text on p.220of TTC. But, aswe have seenabove (noteunder
September13), thereis nothingspeci�c to supportthisnotionin thetext of eitherthebook
or the two diaries. Sowe areleft with this setof curiosities:BD is theonly accountthat
placesCook in positionto arrive at thesummiton thedayhe claimedto have stoodatop
MountMcKinley, but onlybecauseit retainsthedaydroppedfrom TTC. CD impliesthathe
reachedthesummitonthemorningof September15,onedayearly, andTTC, likewise,has
left him onedayshortof gettingthereon thedateheeventuallyreported.If we follow on
from thetext'sprogressionin TTC, thereis simplynotawordaboutanythinghappeningon
September15,sinceCookarrivesat thesummitonSeptember16 by his de�nite statement
onp.232.

Day 9: September16
BD: “Wereachthetopat lastatabout11A.M. to thegunsight.” Henotesthereturnto

the15,600foot snow house:“the little snow houselooksgoodto measI amtired.”
CD p.101:Entryheaded:“The top.” “Exhausted— nearlyfrozennotin shapeto enjoy

thescene— theslopethesnow, wind, cloudsoutof Paci�c JapanCurrentoutof theArctic
clouds,bothmeeting& drifting northeasterly250miles. 50,000sq. miles”

TTCp.232:“It wasSeptember16th,thetemperature16degreesbelow zero,thealtitude
20,390feet.”

Notes: Notice that Cook hasskippedeight pagesin CD from September15's entry,
wherehe gave the time of his arrival at the summitandits temperatureandaltitude. On
p.101herecordswhathecouldseefrom thetopandafew otherdetailsincludingadifferent
altitude. This suggeststhat this entrymayhave beenaddedin an attemptto make up for
thediary entry for September10, which hewould want to skip in his publishedaccounts
becauseit containsa descriptionof goinginto theamphitheaterwherehetook someof his
miscaptionedpicturesandphotographedBarrill holding the�ag on Fake Peak.It appears
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Figure27: Enlargeddetailof BradfordWashburn1955photoof Mt. McKinley, takenfrom
theGateway (Cook's closest1906approach),oppositeCook's peak#7, right whereCook
states(Fig.16) that his “Gun Sight” drawing was made. The sharp­summitillusion is
striking. (SeeBarrill on “gunsight” at z7 xG7.) Theapparenttop is actuallyCarterHorn.
(Seez9 xB2.) The readercandeterminefor himself whetherthis or Fig.26moreclosely
resemblesthebottomdrawing of Fig.16. Photocourtesyof BradfordWashburn.
(Full photo:AAJ10.1[1956], takena few minutesbeforeplate6b of AAJ11.1[1958].)

that he originally hadhimself at the summiton September15 in his diary, but whenhe
realizedhe shouldnot mentionthe trip into the amphitheater, lest he give his deceptions
away, he addedin an extra day to make up for the omission. However, the two should
havecanceledeachotherout,andhestill shouldhavearrivedon the15th. Perhapsthrough
oversighthe declaredSeptember16 assummitday without thinking abouthow the two
dayscanceledeachotherout, andsincehehadnothingto offer for whathappenedon the
missingday, heput in his vaguehintsabouta “day of rest” to make up for thediscrepancy
alreadypublishedin his Harper's article the yearbefore. No otherexplanationaccounts
for the �nished text of TTC, which placeshim on the summit one day soonerthan he
reported,otherwise.Accordingto BA, the falseentriesin BD weremadeup on this very
day, September16, not in a snow houseat 15,600feet,but in their tentonceagainsafely
on the mossycarpetat GlacierPoint. (This is very similar to what Cook seemsto have
donelater with his North Pole narrative. He apparentlywrote his accountof his polar
attainmentwhile comfortablyensconcedin a stoneigloo at CapeSparboduringthewinter
of 1908­1909.In that accountthereis evidence2 that he setbackhis time by a weekfor
thesamereason:to make his timetableseemmoreplausible,andall of hisearliestreports3

of his arrival at the North PolearestatedasApril 22, 1908,thusdiffering by a day from
theoneheeventuallysettledon,April 21.) Signi�cantly, September16 is the�rst daythat
all threeaccountshave ever beentogetherduringtheentiretrip. As for his returnjourney,
insteadof comingall theway backfrom thesummitto his boatin a merefour days,BA
saysthey only hadto returnfrom GlacierPoint,about25 milesand3,000vertical feet in
four days,asopposedto 40 milesand19,000verticalfeet. Cookclaimedit took him only
two daysto cover this distancegoing up with full packs. BA allowed �v e daysfor the
outwardjourney over thesamedistance.In this,andin every otherrespect,BA seemsthe
mostplausibleaccountof thefour.

2 Cook& Pearyp.890f.
3 Ibid p.894.
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z9 A DIO Commentary:

Unfalsi�ability­Summit, Flub­Summit, Barometer­Bomb

A If you missedthe truth, the movie's just asgood

A1 Fake Peak,in spiteof its geographical1 insigni�cance (seeFig.28)— no contour
surroundsit oneventhelargest­scaleUSGStopographicmap— hasplayedafamousrolein
thehistoryof USalpineexploration.In light of BobBryce'sepochalrecoveryandanalysisof
Cook's uncropped̀Summit' photo(z7), it' sworthwhileto review someof themorerecent
argumentsput forth by Cook supporters,regardingthe importanceof this photograph.
(Throughoutthe following appraisal,we will usethe abbreviation “CTC” for the Cook
Society's 1996reprint­plus­commentaryof Cook's 1908To theTopof theContinent.)
A2 In his biographyof Cook,HughEamesconceded(z7 xE1) thatthe`Summit' photo
reallyshowedFakePeak,but heexcused2 thefraud(seez7 xE1)with thisargument:Cook
neededto raisemoney by lecturing,lecturingwasa form of show business,andin show
businesseveryonelies. Therefore,reasonedEames,it' s okay for Cook to lie, too. In
Eames'end­justi�es­the­meansview, thefake photowasnothingmorethananearly form
of SpecialEffects,thenasnow a device for bringingin thecrowds. And their funds.3

A3 EameshadseenAdamsCarter'sphotoof FakePeak(reproducedhereasFig.5),but
wasunawareof theexistenceof Cook's diary.4 Thus,althoughEamesconcludedthat the
`Summit' photowastaken asa backupin caseof camerafailure,he alsobelieved (1973
p.65) that it wastaken on theway downthe mountain. But Cook's diary p.59shows (z8
xB Sept.10)that theexcursioninto Fake Peakamphitheaterwasmadeon theway up the
mountain.Takinga spareon theway up cannotbeeasilyexplained,exceptin thecontext
of deliberatefakery. Not only wasthis beforeCookcouldhave known whetherhis climb
would besuccessfulor not (seez7 xH4, fn 49), but alsoany `backupphoto' excusemust
now supposethatCookknew aheadof time thathis camera(or �lm) wasgoingto fail on
theway to the top.5 So the `backupphoto' argumentcastsCook not just in the role of a
cautiousman,but lessplausiblyin theroleof anhonestpsychic.

1 FakePeak(5338ft) is locatedat62� 5401600N, 150� 3002100W (MichaelSchoder, AEROMAP, 907­
272­4495). The SouthPeakof Mt. McKinley (20320ft) is at 63� 0400900N, 151� 0002300W (Jeffrey
Yates,DAT/EM, 907­522­3681);theslightly lowerNorthPeak(19470ft) isatapproximately63� 060N,
151� 000W. [DIO thanksBradfordWashburn for expert informationon locatingFake Peak,andfor
muchotheradviceonMcKinley andCook,aswell asproviding crucialphotosfromhisvastandunique
Mt. McKinley collection.]

2 Winner LoseAll, Little, Brown, & Co.,1973(pp.64f),a bookpublished,ironically, on thesame
day(1973/6/29)asDR'sPearyat theNorthPole: Factor Fiction?, which(atchapters6& 19)provides
a muchlessglowing review of Cook's careerashoaxer. CouldEames(writing at thehigh­Watergate
periodof US history)have beenin�uenced by variousdefensesof presidential“corner­cutting”? —
suchalibis as,e.g.,if Johnsonearliergot away with Nixoniancrimes,thenNixon mustbeinnocent.

3 TotakeEames'reasoningastepfurther: if Cookhadn't liedaboutthe“summit” photo,hewouldn't
havehadenoughmoney to try for theNorthPoleprize. Soif, asEamesseemsto believe, it' sacceptable
to fake for money, why wouldheobjectto Cook's lying aboutmakingit to McKinley's summit?Since
Cook's motive in thatwasalsoto raisemoney for exploration. [Seefn 28.]

4 NotethatCook's 1906diary wasenteredinto a registerwith preprinted­pagination.Sincesucha
choicemakesfakery harder, this providessomeevidencein favor of the theorythatCook originally
intendedto climb McKinley. Heprobablyalsointendedin 1908to reachtheNorthPole— presumably
via Crocker Land (thusexplaining his oddwesterlydetouracrossHeiberg Land),which thenturned
outnot to exist: DIO 1.1z4 xxB1­B2.

5 SeeCook& Peary p.820for an eyewitnessaccountof an embarrassingslipup by Cook in this
connectionsoonafterhis 1906return.
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Figure28: AnotherhugelymislabelledCook1906photo,printedopp.p.226of TotheTopof
theContinent.Originalcaption:“IN THE SILENTGLORY AND SNOWY WONDEROF
THE UPPERWORLD. 15,400FEET”. View actuallylooksa little eastof southalongthe
easternedgeof theFake Peakamphitheaterat merely5305feet. Barely30 ft higher, Fake
Peakitself is thetiny outcrop(5338ft) indicatedby thesuperimposedarrow. Ironically, the
summitof Fake PeakwasthehighestaltitudeCookattainedon his1906expedition.

Figure29: BradfordWashburn (AAJ 11.11958) joined two of his 1956photosto match
Fig.28. (Tiny arrows point to Fake Peakandto theclif f of Fig.8. Dottedline equalsright
edgeof Fig.28.)Accountingfor Cook's camerahaving beentilted 4� moreclockwisethan
Washburn's, thepictures(printedhereto thesamescale)will almostperfectlysuperpose.
(Washburn's locationsocloselymatchedCook's that,whenphotographingthis scene,he
found that he was virtually standinguponsomeof Cook's 1906camp­trash:Washburn
1958p.16.)However (seexB3):

THE COOK SOCIETY IS NOT CONVINCED OF THE MATCH
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B Similarities, Faking the Wr ongSummit, & Legal Blindness

B1 According to Eames,“Cook chosethe `fake peak' to photographbecauseits tip
resembledthe tip of McKinley. Thesimilaritiesbetween[them] areevidencethatCook's
memoryof thesceneashestruggledup thelasthundredyardswasvery keen.” 6

B2 But,evenif oneacceptsthissimilarity (andotherallegedones),thisis evidenceonly
for theundisputedfactsthat: [a] Cookhadeyes,and[b] McKinley (andsomeeasternridges
aroundit) arevisible from the Gateway. (Note that, whenhe hasto mapthe allegedly­
exploredareawhich is not visible from the Gateway, Cook's putative ultra­keenmemory
fails horribly: seexxD4­D5.) However, this whole(alreadysuf�ciently ridiculous)line of
argumentendsup back�ring with high justiceandhighercomedy, dueto a simplereality:
thetrue,unsharpsummitof McKinley is NOT seenasthehighestpoint for anobserver at
FakePeakor theGateway: rather, narrow CarterHorn— 100feetbelow and1/5mi east&
southof thesummit— seemsangularlyhigherandintervenes;7 andpointedCarterHorn is
in truth thesharp“Gun Sight” (Fig.27)thatCook,from his RuthGlacierviewing position,
mistookfor theactualsummit(which is not sharp:Fig.34). Therefore,by choosingacute
Fake Peakspeci�cally for this similarity (seez7xG7), Cookagainbombs— andconvicts
himselfof notarriving at thesummit,wheretheactualsituation8 would beobvious.
B3 The defensive notion that “similarity” is as importantashardreality may alsobe
found in an especiallyweird Cookitepassage,in which Washburn's lock­in 1956photo­
graphicmatch(our Fig.29)to the topographyof Cook's “15,400ft” scene(our Fig.28) is
passedoff asnot establishinganything much,becauseWalter Gonnason(who hasdrawn
Cook­cliquefundingfor decades)9 hada vision. CTC pp.251­252(emphadded):“Wash­
burn believesthat he found a spot on the lower Ruth Glacier whereDr. Cook took the
[15,400ft] clif f photo. Gonnasonbelievesthathehasseena similar clif f neartheThayer
Basin,which would beat the15,000foot level.” [Photonot included.] (Analogous�ll at
CTC p.252­253,regardingthesummit.) Any societythatcanbroadcastsuchstuff should
put in a disability claimfor blindness.Mentalor whatever.
B4 Thefront coverof CTCis aphotoof McKinley from azimuth10 c.120� (virtually the
CarterHornazimuth— whatacoincidence!— aswell asCook'sazimuthat theGateway:
fn 7), deliberately11 presentinga sharp­looking“summit” to the unwary reader, who will
not know thatit' sactuallyCarterHorn. Thus,oneof Cook's funniestgiveaway blundersis
repeatedandperpetuated.

6 Winner LoseAll, p.67. This passage,throughtheword “evidence,” wasinsertedinto Eames'text
at thelastminute. [Thesameargumentis still repeatedin 1998:seez7 fn 49.]

7 Fromthetruesummit,CarterHorn'sazimuthis c.120� ; theCooknorthernmostcamp's (alsoFake
Peak's) azimuthis very similar: c.125� . (Angle of depressionfrom thesummitto CarterHorn is less
than1/10radian,but it' s1/4radianto theGateway, or 1/7to FakePeak.)Thesummitof Mt. McKinley
is triangular, extendinginto three“horns”, eachroughly1000ft distantfrom theonly­slightly­higher
centralsummit (20320ft): FarthingHorn (20125ft) c.25� eastof north; Kahiltna Horn (20120ft)
c.25� southof west;andthehighest(andslightly moredistant)of the three,CarterHorn (20220ft),
c.30� southof east.In Cook's p.52sketch(Fig.15),theSouthPeak“summit” is CarterHorn,andthe
bumpsjust below it oneithersideareKahiltnaHorn (left) andFarthingHorn (right).

8 Cook later got impreciselyimpreciseaboutthe summit's character:seehis peculiarremarksat
pp.530­531of his 1911book, My Attainmentof the Pole (and the 1913edition's updateat p.534).
SeealsoAmerAlp J 11.1 [1958] pp.12­13for Washburn's amused& just commentsthereon,ashe
contrastsCook's slipperyprosewith genuine�rst Mt. McKinley conquerer(1913)HudsonStuck's
preciseverbaldescriptionof thetop. For a full descriptionof McKinley's realsummit,seeWashburn
op cit AppendixA. For Stuck's photoof thevista from McKinley's summit(thebestproof — which
cannotbefaked,soCookof coursedidn't have it), seeopp.p.102of H.StuckAscentof Denali 1914.
(NotethatCookitestendto speakof earlyexplorers'dif�culty with gettingphotographsof thesummit
— without mentioningStuck's morecrucialphotofromthesummit.See,e.g.,Eames1973p.62.)

9 SeePolar Priorities 14 p.25& z7 hereat fn 28.
10 Miscalledasjust “east” (CookSociety's now­favoredCook1906approach:CTC Plate2/12) in

thecaptionto CTC's Plate2/15(of which thecover is adetail).
11 Hasthe Cook Societyever publisheda photoof the actualunsharpsummit? — which it keeps

claiming(Polar Priorities 14p.11& CTC pp.252­253)looksjust like Cook's sharpFake Peakphoto.
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C I'll know it when I seeit, unlessI don't
C1 A moreconvolutedargumenton theSummitphotocanbefoundin a tractauthored
by (lawyer)SheldonCook­Dorough(no family relationto F. Cook) in Polar Priorities 14.
It is so gloriously bizarre that it deserves to be quotedhereat length. (Bear in mind
that Cook­Doroughwasthe last personknown to have seenthe sharp,clearprint of the
uncroppedSummitphoto.Thatprint waslastseenin earlysummer1994[z7 fn 12], just a
few monthsbeforethearticlequotedherewaspublished.)Cook­Dorough's reasoning:

Theprimary item of evidencewhich is presentedby Cook's adversaries
assupposedproof thathedid not reachthesummitof Mt. McKinley in 1906
is their allegationthatthephotographwhich is displayedin Cook's book,To
theTop of the Continent, asthe summitof Mt. McKinley is in fact a much
lower andindeedinsigni�cant peakin thefoothills of Mt. McKinley located
off thelowerreachesof RuthGlacierhaving and[sic] elevations[sic] of only
5,500feet.
C2 At theoutset,thecontrollingpoint shouldbeclerarly [sic] statedand
that is simply this: Even if thepeakdepictedin Cook's summitphotograph
is not thetruesummitbut is apeakatamuchlowerelevation,this factwould
not prove that Cook did not reachthe summit. At most, it would raisea
questionasto whetheror notCookhadin realityattainedthetop. In orderto
make a determinationwhetheror notCookactuallyreachedthesummit,it is
necessaryto examineandweighall theevidencepertainingto his climb, the
entirebody of the evidence,including the photographin question. If there
is otherevidence,evidencewhich is extensive andsigni�cant andsupports
Cook's assertionthathereachedthetop,asthereis, thensucha photograph,
thoughnot of the true summit,would almostcertainlyhave an explanation
which is consistentwith his having scaledMt. McKinley to the top of its
ultimatepeak.[SeeLewis sourcecitedat fn 16. — ed.] If theevidenceasa
wholestronglyindicatesthatCookaccomplishedtheascent,asit does,then
it is quiteprobablethathedid, andthatthephotographwasusedfor purposes
of illustration becausehe wasunableto make a satisfactoryphotographat
the summit and the highestelevations; that Cook was compelledto usea
photographof a peakother thana true summit for a reasonother thanhis
failureto reachthetop.
C3 But thesecondpoint is equallyinterestingandmaybedispositive of
theassertionsof Cook's enemiesduring the last 80 years,that thepeakde­
pictedin Cook's summitphotographis, in fact,anunimportantpeaklocated
in the foothills of Mt. McKinley off RuthGlacierbetween14 and20 miles
southeastof thesummitandhaving anelevationof only approximately5,500
feet. Cook'sadversarieshavereferredto thispeakas“FakePeak”in derision
of Cook'sassertionthathereachedthesummitof Mt. McKinley in September
1906.Thesecondpoint to bemadeis this: While Parker, Browne,andWash­
burn maintainthat “Fake Peak” is the peakdepictedin Cook's photograph
of thesummitof Mt. McKinley, threecarefulandthoroughgoingstudentsof
thequestionduring the last 80 yearshave concludedthat thepeakdepicted
in Cook's summitphotographand“Fake Peak”cannotbethesame;that the
peakin Cook's summitphotographis not “Fake Peak.” Edwin Swift Balch,
adistinguishedAmericanhistoricalgeographerandmountainclimber, made
avery lengthystudyof Cook'sphotographof thesummitandof Browneand
Parker's photographof “Fake Peak”duringtheperiod1912­1914.He found
thatwhile therearesomesimilaritiesbetweenthe two peaks,therearealso
distinctdissimilaritiesbetweenCook's peakand“Fake Peak.” Edwin Swift
Balch thusconcludedthat “Fake Peak” is not the peakre�ected in Cook's
photographof thesummit,thatit cannotbe.
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C4 E. C. Rost also studiedthe questionwhetherBrowne and Parker's
“Fake Peak” as shown in their 1910 photographis the peak depictedin
Cook's summitphotograph.Rostexaminedthe questionindependentlyof
Edwin Swift Balch but during the sameperiod,1912­1914. Rostcameto
the sameconclusionwhich was reachedby Edwin Swift Balch: the peak
in Cook's summitphotographand“Fake Peak”capturedby the cameraof
BrowneandParker in 1910arenotthesamepeak,thedissimilaritiesbetween
thetwopeaksareclear. Thus,thepeakdepictedin Cook'ssummitphotograph
is not “Fake Peak”andcannotbe “Fake Peak.” Rost's conclusionsareset
forth in his monograph,12 MountMcKinley and Its BearingUponthePolar
Controversy, 1914.
C5 HansCorneliusWaalemadeanexhaustivestudyof thisquestionin the
1970sand1980sandconcludedthat thepeakin Cook's summitphotograph
and“Fake Peak”aredifferentpeaks. He found marked dissimilaritiesbe­
tweenthem,althoughlike RostandEdwin Swift Balch,hediscoveredsome
resemblancebetweenthe two peaks. But the pronounceddifferencesbe­
tweenthetwo, in his view, make it impossiblethatthey arethesame.Waale
concludedthat whetheror not Cook's summitphotographdepictsthe true
culminatingpeakof Mt. McKinley, thereis no questionthatCook's summit
is not “Fake Peak.”
C6 Bradford Washburn contendsthat Parker and Browne were correct
and that “Fake Peak” is the peakdepictedin Cook's summit photograph.
[AmericanAlpine Journal 11.1, 1958] Neither explains satisfactorily how
“Fake Peak” and Cook's Peakcan be the samepeak yet display certain
marked dissimilarities.13 It seemsmostunlikely that the peakcapturedin
Cook's summitphotographis “Fake Peak.”
C7 To concludewith areferenceto the�rst pointmadein thisdiscussion:
Evenif it wereshown thatCook's Peakis “Fake Peak,” this wouldnot prove
thatCookdid notreachthetopof Mt. McKinley. Thequestionwhetheror not
CookscaledMt. McKinley to its summitmustberesolvedon thebasisof all
theevidencepertainingto his climb of themountainin September1906,the
entirebodyof theevidence,includingthisphotograph,andif theevidenceas
awholesupportstherealityof hisascent,thenit mustbeconcludedthatCook
probably, indeedalmostcertainly, reachedthetopandthatthephotographhas
anexplanationconsistentwith thereality of his achievement.Theevidence
as a whole very strongly supportsCook's claim to the �rst ascentof Mt.
McKinley andrendersit highly probablethatheaccomplishedthefeat.14

C8 Cook­Doroughstartsbysayingthatif thesummitphotoshowsFakePeak,thatwould
notprovethatCookdidn't climb McKinley. In thisway, lawyerCook­Doroughtriesto shift
theburdenof proof off Cook,in effect sayingthatCookdoesn't have to prove hereached
thesummit,ratherhis critics mustprove hedidn't. (Not the�rst time thelegal profession

12 RostwasCook's often­acutepaidWashingtonlobbyist,who latersuedCookfor non­paymentof
wages. (The accuratetitle of his [atypically bad] monographis Mount McKinley, its bearingon the
Polar Controversy.) SeeRawlins Peary. . . Fiction pp.247­248andBryceCook& Peary, pp.599­601.

13 Thisargumenttriesto exploit nature'salterationof FakePeak(includingcollapseof its right side).
Thereasoningis aboutonalevel with disputingacoroner's identi�cation, of acorpsewhoseright hand
is missing,by protestingthattheleft hand'sperfect�ngerprint­matchprovesnothingwithout theother
hand. If we add­insuspicionof forgery(xG), theparallelwould beto supposethatthecoronercould
fabricatethecorpse's left hand— but wasstumped(if youwill) by thetaskof fakingtheright hand.

14 Polar Priorities 14 (October1994)pp.14­15,note2. Cook­Dorough(namenow legally changed
to SheldonShackelford RandolphCook) canbe reachedin careof the FrederickA. Cook Society,
Sullivan CountyMuseum,P.O. Box 247, Hurleyville, NY 12747(telephone914­434­8044),which
alsohandlesmembership­subscriptions($10/yr). Submissionsto Polar Priorities go to editorRussell
W. Gibbons,P.O.Box 11421,Pittsburgh,PA 15238;telephone412­782­0171,fax412­784­8801.
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hasturnedsensiblephilosophy­of­scienceupside­down.)15 Thenhe rolls out an attempt
at appealingto Authority, quotingexpertswho state�atly (andincorrectly)that “there is
no questionthat Cook's summitphotois not Fake Peak.” Thenhe reversescourseagain
andsaysthat,oh­by­the­way, just in casethesummitphotoreally is Fake Peak,we must
look at(all theother)evidence,(Of course,Cook­DoroughhadseentheuncroppedSummit
photo— z7 fn 10 — andthereforemusthave known thathis citedexperts'opinionswere
false.) Particularlypreciousis Cook­Dorough's insistencethat theSummitphoto,even if
fake, musthave someperfectlyinnocent16 explanation.(Fn 17. Similar slipknot­thinking
at fn 28.)

C9 Thosewhorunoutof hardevidenceareproneto askfor aLargerView — appealing
to thewhole­of­the­evidence(xxC2&C7), or CTC p.253: whether­or­not­Cook's­summit­
shot­is­faked­is­secondary, because,“The real resolutionto this disputeis to examineDr.
Cook'scompleteroutealongtheEastRidgeto thesummit.” (Whichrathertakesfor granted
thattheroutewascompleted.Or evenstarted.After all, themoreseriouscontroversyhere
isn't: did Cook get to Mt. McKinley's top? It' s rather: did he even get to McKinley's
bottom?) Thereareseveral lawyeresqueadvantagesof this wholistic approach:[a] No
possibility of a crucial experimentis permitted— the prime condition for maintenance
of an unfalsi�able mentality. [b] No matter the weight of evidence,the controversy's
loser can avoid admitting the embarrassingtruth by eternally generatingnit­picks and
alibis.17 [c] IndisputablehardevidencesarelessimportantthanourExpertTeam'ssuperior
understandingof theWholeSituation.18

C10 The troublewith item [c] is that it tendsaway from logic and towardspersonal
attacks,an effect which may help explain the Cook Society's peculiarvenomtowards
theworld's leadingMt. McKinley expert,BradfordWashburn (longtimeheadof Boston's
Museumof Science),19 whoseoverwhelminglyconclusive 1950sphotographic20 investiga­
tionswouldhaveendedtheCook­McKinley controversyforeveramongpersonsof balanced
judgement.A likely purposeof therecentCookSocietyexpeditionto theMcKinley area
wastheestablishmentof we've­been­up­thereExpertise.Noneof which will impresssci­
entistswho observe theSociety's diary­p.52four­way­disaster(seexF) or its manglingof
themereprintingof basicsurveying equations.21

15 E.g.,thediscovery­ruleandtheMirandizationof suspectsareboth�agrantly contraryto creating
conditionsin whichcompetingtheories'credibility & fruitfulnesscanbetestedby incomingevidence.

16 By golly, theremustbesomelogicalreasonwhy theunimpeachableevidencedoesnot�t thesacred
theory, if only wecoulddiscernit. Readerswith thewit to solve thisriddlemayalsowish to helpC.S.
Lewis outof hisequallyself­imposedanimal­paindilemma:seeDIO 4.3z15 xI3, fn 42. Suggestions
thateithersacredtheorymight possibly bewrongwil l bereceivedwithpredictable&invincibledeafness.

17 A gem,by Cook­Dorough,from Polar Priorities 15: “The reasonsfor Cookpossiblynot having
a photographof thesummit. . . couldbeweatherconditions,snow, haze,extremecold. Conditions
aresopooronsomedays,particularlyat thehighestlocations,thatnogood,clearphotographscanbe
made. Thusa substitutephotographof similar featuresfound at lower elevationsmight be usedfor
purposesof illustration.” As Washburnnotes,apoor­visibility excuseis prettyoddfor anexplorerwho
claimed(xD6) thathecouldseedistantvolcanoesfromthesummit! SoCTCp.260turnsaroundand—
in amaster­displayof swivel­hippedzigzag­unfalsi�abilit y — offersthatCook's very claim of seeing
the volcanoesis evidencein his favor regardlessof whetherit's deadwrong (which it positively is:
xD6): “If someonewerefakinganascent,it seemshighly unlikely [that he] would provide refutable
observations.[He] might easilyclaim thatit wastoo cloudyto getaphotoor seedistantpeaks.” This
is typical (seealsoxD6) of theCookSociety's evasion(noncitation)of Washburn'sdemonstrationthat
higher& nearermountainsarein a direct line with (andsomake impossible)two of Cook's reported
volcano­sightings.

18 Eminentprofessorsarenot immuneto suchdelusions:seeDIO 1.2fnn 66&100.
19 SciencePark,Boston,MA 02114­1099,telephone617­589­0229,fax 589­0363.
20 The sheerbeautyof Washburn's picturesis assistedby useof large negatives. Cook madethe

samewisechoice.
21 CompareCTC p.302 to the original RussellPorter renderingat p.41 of A. Brooks, “Mount

McKinley Region,Alaska”,Dep't Interior, USGeolSurv, ProfessionalPaper70 (Wash,DC, 1911).
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D DocCooked: the unequalbattle betweenFaith & Data

D1 Solet's follow Cook­Dorough's adviceandlook at theevidence.Therealevidence.
Herewewill includeonly evidencedirectlyfrom Cookhimself: hisdiary, hisphotography,
andhis publishedaccounts.Much of this evidencehasalreadybeendiscussedin z7, but
we will addonenew exhibit here: themappublishedby Cook in his Harper's article of
1907. Fig.31is a detail of this map,enlarged6 times;theoriginal mapwaspublishedin
smallscale,perhapsdeliberately22 soasto obscurenon­existentfeatures.
D2 Comparethis to a real mapof the samearea(Fig.32). Note particularly that the
southernpartof RuthGlacieris drawn correctly, including thealcove on theeasternedge
that containsFake Peak. The westward curve of the lower glacier is alsoaccurate.The
tributaryglacierwestof GlacierPointis there,asis thenarrowing of theRuthGlaciernorth
of GlacierPoint. All of this is mappedcorrectly. (Themapis thework of RussellPorter,
a memberof the1906expeditionwho hadseenthis portionof theRuthGlacierfrom the
west[shortdash­dotline in Fig.31],beforeturningbackto thecoastin thelateSummer.)
D3 But beyond the point Barrill said they turnedback, the map is pretty bad. Ruth
Glacier doesnot extend more than a few miles beyond Barrill' s turnaroundpoint, but
Cook'smapshowsit becomingahugeserpentine23 glaciercurvingfarnorth­northeast,then
backtrackingfarsouthwestto a point just below thesummit.
D4 More importantis thetopographyalongCook'sclaimedroutebeyondthepoint that
themapshowsthey left theglacier. Themaphasacontinuousridgeline runningnortheast­
southwest,leadingdirectly to the summit in a roughly straightline for about20 miles.
Actually, thereis a network of fairly short branchingridgesleadingto the summit. Of
these,only KarstensRidge runs northeast,and it petersout after aboutsix miles. The
EastButtressendsaboutsevenmilesfrom thesummit,andit doesnot run in thedirection
Cook's mapshows. Bryce hasplausiblysuggestedthatCook confusedthe EastButtress
with KarstensRidge;but thiscouldonlyhavehappenedhadCooknotclimbedthemountain.
D5 Even supposingCook climbedthe EastButtressandhadmistakenly thoughtthat
it ran northeast,he would have beenableto seefrom its top that the Ruth Glacier looks
nothinglike the way he mappedit. And mostcritically, he would have beenableto see
theregion beyondtheEastButtress:theTraleikaGlacierandtheupperMuldrow Glacier.
Cookwould have beenthe �rst personto have seenthesefeatures.Why arethey missing
from his map?In theareaheindisputablytraveled,his mapis correctin all details;in the
areain whichhis travel is in dispute,his mapis suspiciouslyinaccurate.
D6 Here's what Cook did claim to seefrom the top: “The icy conesof the burning
volcanoesRedoubt,Illiamna, and Chinabora. . . were clearly visible with their rising
vapors.” 24 To testthis claim, BradWashburn took a photographfrom 1000feetabove the
summitof McKinley on a perfectlyclearday. With Mt. McKinley in the foreground,the
photoshows that both Redoubtand Iliamna (modernspelling)arehiddenfrom view by
higheranddirectly­intervening topography, especiallyMount Spurr. With Velikovskian
invincible­unfalsi�ability , theCookPartydoesnot cite theMt. Spurrblockageandmerely
responds(CTCp.261;seealsofn 17): “future observersmayresolve thisdisputeditem.” 25

22 De�nitely deliberate:whenvirtually thesamemapwaspublishedin To theTop of theContinent
(1908pp.152­153),Cook's 1906routewasomitted.Oddbehavior for anallegedlyhonestman.

23 Theserpentineglacierof Fig.31is evidently just aspeculative extrapolationby R.Porter(anearly
skepticabouttheclimb: Cookdiary p.164,CTC p.291),linking two prior (then­separate)dotted­line
semi­conjecturalglaciers. For theevolution of this mapping,seethe1906­data­basedmaps(XV vs.
III&IX) in A.Brooks 1911(cited in fn 21). (Bryce haswonderedwhetherthe serpentineglacier is
ultimatelybaseduponahugeCookexaggeration­misplacementof theRuthGlacier's WestFork.)

24 To theTopof theContinent, p.232.(SeeWashburn1958p.12.)
25 Samedefensefor Cook's lack of McKinley summitcompassdata(xE) andfor his “North Pole”

fantasy's navigationalhowlers. TheCookSocietycontainsnonavigators,andfor decadestheSociety
hasbeenunable(despiteDR's urging) to �nd — or even to askpublicly for — navigationalexperts
who will vouchfor the non­farcicality of Cook's purported1908sextant “data”. (For which planet
theseallegeddataputCookon,seeRawlins Peary. . . Fiction 1973pp.86­87.)
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D7 The foregoing highlightsa recurringthemein all of the evidencefrom the 1906
non­climb: absolutelyeverythingcanbeveri�ed below thepoint thatBarrill saidCook&
heturnedback,andabsolutelynothingcanbeveri�ed beyondthatpoint. Below thepoint
Barrill saidthey turnedback,we have:
� A completephotographicrecord,includingmany striking& beautifulphotos;
� Severalsketchesin Cook's diaryof views from thelower RuthGlacier;
� Two setsof compassbearings26 on visiblepeaksfrom thelower RuthGlacier;
� Two sketch­mapsin Cook's diaryof thelower RuthGlacier;
� A �ne, accuratemaprepresentingthelower RuthGlacier, publishedin Harper's.
D8 And above thepointBarrill saidthey turnedback:
� Not onephotograph;
� Not onediary sketchthatis a crediblematchto realterrain;
� Not onecompassbearing;27

� Not onediary sketch­map(thecontrastto xD7 wassuppressedin CTC:xF);
� A suspiciouslyincompletemapof theregionnorthof theGateway, publishedin Harper's.
D9 Finalscoreonthehardevidence(seealsoz7 xH2): Cookis �v e­for­�v ein providing
evidencebelow the point whereBarrill saidthey turnedback,asagainstzero­for­�v e in
providing evidencebeyond that point. And this scoreis charitable,sincethe published
cartographyis not merely lack of evidencebut positive evidencefor fraud. (Washburn
notes:themapappeared2 monthsbeforeCookleft theUS,for hispolarhoax.)Soif Cook
reachedthesummit,notonly did hestoptakingphotosat theprecisepointBarrill saidthey
turnedback,healso: stoppedmakingsketches,stoppedtakingcompassbearings,stopped
makingmaps(did helosehiscompassandhismap­senseto thesamegremlinwhostolehis
�lms?),28 andbeganto falsify thetopographyof theregion. All at thesamecritical point.29

26 First recognizedassuchby Ted Heckathorn.SeeCook diary pages50 & 56, reproducedhere
asFigs.20&30(alsoat pages283&285of Heckathorn's afterword to CTC). DIO's analysesof these
two bearingsetsput Cook on the Ruth Glacierat 62� 470N, 150� 380W (diary p.50),and62� 520N,
150� .6 W (diary p.56). Both points(accurateto abouta mile) arewell southof whereBarrill said
Cook& heturnedback.Mostof thecompassdataondiaryp.51,CTCp.283,arenothingbut p.50data
offset by 1� 1/2. (The samemountain[perhapsthe 11530ft peakat 62� 570N, 150� 590W] is called
“Mt. Hunter” [z7 fn 38] onp.50,“McK” onp.51.)So,thesitewaslikely thatof p.50.As for the1� 1/2
differential: its steadinessis acreditto Cook's vision,but its sizeshows pooraccountingfor compass
deviation.) Notethatthebunchingof thep.56bearingsof peakssuggeststhatthesedataweretakenas
anafterthoughtduringthereturnsouth— becauseit would beoddto observe suchcrowdedbearings
if oneweremoving northward,with theprospectof soonbeingmoreathwart theline of peaks.

27 In spiteof Cook's claimthathetook“a roundof angleswith theprismaticcompass”from thetop
of Mt. McKinley (To theTopof theContinent, p.233),hisown diary containsno compassdataexcept
from Ruth Glacier (fn 26). Explaining­away this glaring omissionrequiresan extra­epicycle alibi
entirelyseparatefrom theotherbaselessexcuse(�lm­going­bad)— andsowehavetheproto­makings
of a burgeoning­out­of­controldisconnected­alibigoulash,which obviously isn't going to make the
Occam's­Razorcut. SeexD9 & DIO 4.3z15xF5. (Also DIO 1.1z7 xD1, DIO 1.2xF4,fnn 103&209,
2.3z8 xC20& fn 46,6 z1 fn 47.)

28 [Seez7fn 49,whereunshakablefaithin Cookleadstothetransformationof adesperately­conjured­
upwispy speculation— thatCook's �lm suddenlywentbadattheGateway— into aconcrete­positive
conviction of this. No matterthat Cook never publicly saidso. Instead,he palmedoff low­altitude
photosashigh­altitude. Which proveshim a liar. OK, OK, sohe lied aboutthe �lm — but not the
summit­conquest!(Note: theability to besure of this improbablydisproportionate�ne­distinction is
what makesa Cookite. Seefn 3. Also R.Newton at Q. J. Roy. Astr. Soc.20:390 [1979], & 21:390
[1980], andDIO 1.2 xH3.) The sole,entirebasisof the bad­�lm alibi is need: Cook­loverscrave a
controversy­loser's escape­hatch,someway — any way — of continuingto insist thatbeingon the
wrongsideof 100%of thephotographicevidenceprovesnothing.Nothing. (Seealsofn 16.) Certainly,
this overwhelmingevidential situationcannotprove that Cook­junkieshave for decades— i.e., for
mostof their research­lives— beenwrong. Utterly & spectacularlywrong. Ironically­upside­down
wrong: conned,into decadesof dedication,by theclumsiesthoaxer in explorationhistory. No, not for
all thoseyears — duringwhich devoteesincreasinglyinsultedtheintelligence,integrity, andmotives
of thosewhohavenow beenprovenabsolutelycorrectonTHE key photoof thecase.]

29 Another type of hard evidenceruns out at the Gateway: remainsof Cook's campshave been
foundby bothWashburn(seeFig.29caption& AAJ11.1[1958]p.14)andOkonek(1993/1/13letterto
Bryce). But no tracesof Cook's 1906trip have beenfoundcloserto McKinley thantheGateway.
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Figure30: Page56 of Cook's 1906diary, showing a sketchof thepeaks(Mt. Church,Mt.
Grosvenor, etc,alongthewesternedgeof theGreatGorge. (SeeFig.1& z7fn 33.) Numbers
on the peaksare Cook's measuredcompassbearings. The notation“obs from amp th”
suggeststhat (at leastpart of) the drawing wasmadefrom the Fake Peakamphitheatre.
However, the raw bearing­dataindicatethat they were observed southof Glacier Point.
(Seefn 26.)
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D10 Cook's 1906farthestnorth is alsoobvious from a glanceat Fig.12 (diary p.44),
wherehisown marksof activity — andthelackof asketch­mapfarthernorth— show that
heneverevenapproachedany of thefour peakshenumbers#9­#12,whichhemerelysaw30

(at theGateway) from thesouth,in thedistance.31 FriendlyPeakwasprobablypeak#11of
the four. As Brycecorrectlyremarks(z7 xG6), theCookSocietyphotoof FriendlyPeak
(Fig.26,sameasCTC Plate2/7) doesnot especiallyresembleCook's “Gun Sight peak”
sketch(bottomdrawing atFig.15),thoughtheSocietyclaimsit does.Thisdespitetheneat
assistingploy of shootingthisphotofrom a point32 lessthan7000ft above sea­level, more
than3000ft lower thanTraleikaCol, from which theSocietystates33 Cookdrew Friendly
Peak,andfromwhichtheSocietyclaims(fn 33)its1994expeditionswiftly spottedFriendly
Peakasa matchto thedrawing. However, neitherPolar Priorities 14 nor CTC includesa
photoof FriendlyPeaktakenat TraleikaCol — from which point it in factdoesnot look
like thelonepeakdepictedin Fig.15or Fig.26: [a] it cannottherebeseenagainstthesky
(sinceit' s muchlower thanTraleikaCol); and[b] it merelylooks like the front peakof a
bunchof in­line peaks,Cook's #11­#9(#10 peekingup from behind,on the left) — and
anyonedrawing it would obviously have depictedthatsituation.34

D11 Unsurprisingly, Cook stoppedjust wherethe going got tough(asalso in his try
for the N.Pole). The Gateway is only 12 mi from McKinley's summithorizontally, but
nearly3 mi vertically, a huge25% meangrade. Indeed,the entireMcKinley massifis
notedamongalpinistsfor someof thesteepestgradesin theworld. TheEastButtressroute
currentlyfavoredby Cookitesis particularlydif�cult. Cookat theGateway wasstaringat
a gradeof over 100%(muchtougherthanwhatstoppedhim in 1903)just to getonto the
E.Ridgeatall. And,onceup,hewouldhavehadto traverseafeatureWashburncalls“Hairy
Ridge” (Fig.33),which is sohorriblethatGonnasonandthreeothersgaveup their try after
just 100 feet. In 1994, S.FischerreachedHairy Ridge's start but didn't bite, obviously
realizing35 Cookcouldn't have �nished it without specialequipmenthelacked.36

30 Fig.12& Top p.197suggestprobable(thoughnot certain)identi�cation of thefour peaks#9­#12
which line up (both in reality andon Fig.12)with peaks#1­#8(seeFig.1 & z7 fn 33). Heightsof
#9­#12(S­to­N): 7272ft, 7400+ ft, 8425ft (Friendly Peak),and9150ft. The Cook Society1994
expeditionattempted(CTCp.245)to photographthewholeline of twelve,but theresultis not in CTC.

31 Thereis anunexplained“26 mi” writtennearGlacierPointonFig.13(rule [10]). It seemsto refer
to thetotaldistancetravelledsinceleaving theboat.Thesame“26” appearsonFig.12(rule [11]), just
southof GlacierPoint (scratchedout at rule [8]). We also�nd purely­northward distancesgiven: at
rule [13], “15 milesfrom boat”;andat rule [12], “16”. So,thenearby“26” mayre�ect theadditionof
a leg up&back,perhapsinto theFake Peakamphitheatre(though,in Fig.12,“26” is a bit far southfor
that interpretation),perhapsto theGateway. In any case,whatis glaringlymissingfrom Cook's diary
is: sketch­mapdistance­datafor hisclaimedtravel beyondtheGateway.

32 FriendlyPeak's locationis accuratelyprovidedat CTC Plate2/12. TheSociety's FriendlyPeak
photo(Plate2/7, reproducedhereat z7 Fig.26)wastaken [alsoPolPri 14 p.7 photo] from very near
thecenterof CTC Plate2/13,itself anaerialphoto(with FriendlyPeakstretchingupward&rightward
of center).Both of theseCTCphotosof FriendlyPeak(Plates2/7&13)areaimedroughlySSE.

33 CTC Plate2/12 caption. (Also p.245& Polar Priorities 14 p.7.) The E.Ridgeviewing­site is
probablynotaccidental.Without it, thedrawings' orderis odd: why shouldCookdraw FriendlyPeak
(which heencountered�rst) at thebottomof diary p.52(Fig.16),andthenlaterdraw PegasusPeakat
the top of the samepage?(So the TraleikaCol site recommendsitself to Cookitesbecauseit is the
lowestpoint on theridgefrom whichPegasus& Friendlypeakscanbothbeseen.)

34 Onefailstoseewhatadata­barecult hopestoaccomplish— otherthansoakinguptensof thousands
of CookSocietydollars(which might bemorepro�tably spentin glorifying Cook's genuinelyheroic
rôle on the Belgicaexpeditionof 1897­1899)— by �ying andclimbing aroundthe McKinley area,
looking in all directionsto try vindicatingan isolatedroughdrawing by �nding a sharppeak. As if
that's ashockinglyunusualsightin suchageologicallynew region.

35 CTCp.262counterswith a(verbal)quotefroma(deceased)guide(CookSociety­funded):“It was
doable.” Like “CanDo”, Guys&Dolls' hymnto tout sheetsand“a handicapper[who's] realsincere”.

36 Hairy Ridge is still unconqueredby any humanbeing. Onecanonly hopethat no misguided
Cookitewill be killed or injured on it, attempting[note Bryce 1997p.731]a vain rescueof the lost
Cookmyth. [Recentclosecallswarnusof McKinley's mortal threatto realclimbers(91 deadsince
1932): Newsweek1998/7/6p.40. They alsoremindusof thedangersskillfully overcomeby genuine
summit­attainers,suchasBradWashburn— andhiswife Barbara,the1stwomaneveratopMcKinley.]
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E Chargeof the Slight Brigade — into the Valley of Eternal Reruns

WhenCook's paperswere �nally openeda decadeago,his shrinkingcircle of loyalists
jumpedeagerlyinto them,nakedlyhopefulof �nding, e.g.,thecompass­dataCookclaimed
(fn 27) to have taken from thesummit. Polar Priorities 14 p.5 (similarly at CTC pp.239­
240), bright with initial optimismuponthe �nding of his compassdata,reported: “This
new evidencewarrantedfurtherinvestigation.” But whenthisveryinvestigationprovedthat
all thesecompassdataplaceCook in the lower Ruth Glacier(fn 26), the Societyneither
learnsanything nor informs its members. (Seefn 16.) Whenevery hopefor hard­data
vindicationcameuputterlydry, nothen­sympathizerfor Cook(exceptBryce)wasall­there
enoughto aska simplequestion:doessuchtotal failure,on every evidential front, favor
or disfavor37 Cook's claims? Instead,the Cook Societybegana well­fundeddiversion­
campaign:[a] Glossingits publication,Polar Priorities. [b] Claiming Cook's �lm must
have becomedamaged[fn 49]. [c] Spendingtensof thousandsof dollarsuponits inner
circle, and upon a prayerless­wheelof expeditionsaimedat the chimeraof generating
convincing evidencefor Cook's claims. (Cook himself having neglectedto do so: CTC
pp.261&265. Question: who would wish to squanderhis life in the rôle of a perpetual
quixote — charging into one hopelessbattle after another— defendingso sloppy and
fecklessa “hero”? SeeCook& Pearyp.944.)

F Self­DestructBombson Diary Page52

F1 It is anappallingmeasureof thebarenessof Cookism's evidentialcupboardthat,in
patheticappositionto the5 hard­datablanks,38 theonly documentin Cook's handthatthe
Societyattempts39 to call undeniable,startlinglyspeci�c proof40 (thatCook passedmuch
beyondtheGateway) is p.52of thediary, i.e., themuddledsketchesof Fig.15.
F2 The very ideaof �ghting perfectly& very­multiply­consistentphotographicproof
by adducingan isolated(z7 xG16), discordant41 pageof sketches(by an untalentedand
questionablyhonestartist) is wild, right on its face. But, aswell, this “evidence” itself
(Fig.15)criesout42 in Cook'shandwith somany fatalcontradictionsof theverycult­theories
it is supposedto con�rm, thatit mayrepresenthistory's �rst known caseof serial­suicide:

[a] Thepageis explicitly labelled“McK”, whichclearlybackstheOkonek­Washburn­
Brycetheory(z7 xG5)thatMcKinley (notPegasus­Friendly)is thesubjectof thedrawings.
The Cook cult simply ignores“McK” andclaimsthat the upperp.52drawing is of irrel­
evant PegasusPeak,a view implicitly acceptingthat Cook wasso smittenwith Pegasus
(unmentionedin his public or privatewritings) thathedrew a closeuppictureof it (andof
minorFriendlyPeak)— but noneof his expedition's goal,Mt. McKinley.

[b] The Society's insistence,that p.52's upperdrawing wasmadeon the eastridge,
hasanotherunsubtledif�culty , namely, this drawing's distantforegroundis labelled“east
ridge”. (SeeFig.15.) How coulda ridgeat thedrawer's feetalsobepartof thehorizontal­
vista­drawing? (Seez7 xG9.)

[c] Thelowerdrawing is labelledasbeingfrom“gl. opp.peak7”, whichisnotanywhere
neartheeastridge. (Seez7 xG7.) However, thiscontradictionwouldmeannothingto CTC

37 Thestrongestadmission(xC2): this “would raiseaquestion”of possiblenon­success.“At most”.
38 SeexxD7­D8.
39 E.g.,z7 xG.
40 Polar Priorities 14cover, insidecover, p.8;CTCpp.248,249,253. Also hereat fn 44& z7 xG3.
41 One is remindedof the caseof the Piltdown “discovery”, which — as anthropologicaldata

accumulatedafterwards— wasincreasinglyisolated­inconsistentwith respectto thewider corpusof
evolutionaryknowledge.

42 There's a simplerule of investigative research:don't talk to evidence;listen to it. If you make
up your mind beforeevidencearrives, thenyour intelligencewill be spentnot uponinductionfrom
the evidence,but upon resilienceto it — and, when evidencegetsoverwhelminglyone­sided,the
determinedBeliever eventuallybecomesascomicasJoeE. Brown in SomeLike It Hot's �nal scene.
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readers,sinceCTCpp.281­282fails to reproduce(or evenprovide thetextsof) Cookdiary
pp.44&46(Figs.12&13),bothof which placepeak7 just shortof theGateway. (Seealso
Bryce's commentsat z7 fn 25.) Incidentally, asto the larger questionof why Cook has
sketch­mapssouthof theGateway (but not north): thexD7­vs­xD8 contrastis alsolost on
CTCreaders,againbecausetheCookSocietyhasnever publishedthesketch­maps.

[d] But the p.52 datumthat de�niti vely torpedosthe whole east­ridge­Pegasus­Peak
crockis thebriefestentryonthepage,“Bar 24” (right sideof Fig.16)— Cook'sbarometer
readingof 24 inches.Thiscorresponds43 to about6000ft; while, for 11,000ft (thealtitude
theCookSocietyhasbroadcast44 for thesedrawings),thecorrectbarometricreadingwould
be20 inches.(As to thelikelihoodof a 4 inch error: noneof Cook's otherrealbarometer
readingsvary from meanexpectations[fn 43] by morethanabout1 1/2 inches.) So,say
goodbyeto theCookSociety'sprimenew McKinley­dataexhibit, by farthemost­advertised
evidencefrom its 1994expedition,whichdrainedtheSociety'scoffersby roughly$40,000.
F3 As theCookSocietyfalselyaccuses(fn 46) othersof forging material,evenwhile
theSocietyitself juggles(andrepeatedlyignoresinconvenientor even glaringly contrary
partsof) its own sliverof self­proclaimednew­vindicationp.52­evidence,it' stimeto re�ect
uponthepsychologicalde�nition of “projection”.

G Apostacy, Apotheosis,& Apology

G1 Returningto crucial­experiment­�nality: thesigni�canceof theuncropped“Sum­
mit” photois twofold: First, it shows indisputablythatCooklied in hisdisplayof themost
importantphysicalevidencefrom theclimb. Cook's veracityis of centralimportwhenthe
only evidencein favor of his claim is his own unsupportedword. Second,it shows that
BelmoreBrowne, HerschelParker, andBrad Washburn werenot satanicde�lers of The
OneTrue Explorer, but were legitimately attemptingto determinethe truth in their now
completelyvindicatedinvestigationsof Fake Peak. Pastdefendersof Cook (inspiredby
Cookhimself)45 have imputedvariousdishonestmotivesto thesemen[Polar Priorities 15
pp.32&35],andtheir chargesarestill faithfully citedby Cookitestoday.46 (Whatdoesall

43 A convenientexpressionfor themeanrelationof heightz (in statutemilesabovesea­level) to baro­
metricpressureP (in inchesof Hg) is: z = 12�log[30/P ]. ThatCook's barometerwasnot seriously
defectiveisacknowledgedatCTCpp.269­270, andisobviousfromthebarometerdatain thediary (CTC
pp.283f). At diary pp.59&65,thebarometertwice indicatedP closeto 24.6inches(CTC p.286)for
GlacierPoint(“CeracPt.”: z7 fn 19). Evidentlyworking (accurately)from a tablebasedon theabove
formula,Cook(diary p.59,CTC p.286)placedGlacierPointat about5500ft (5280�12�log[30/24.6]),
thoughit is actuallyonly 3753ft abovesea­level. Theerrorcouldbefrom slight instrumentalmiscali­
brationor localatmosphericpressure­variationor both. Correctingfor theeffect,wecanestimatethat
24 incheson Cook's barometerat this time correspondedto almost5000ft, which is aboutconsistent
with hisactualaltitudein theFake Peak­Gateway area,wherehedrew thep.52sketches.

44 E.Ridge11000ft altitude:Polar Priorities 14 insidecover, p.8;CTC pp.245­248.And seefn 40.
45 F.Cook My Attainmentof the Pole 1913 ed. p.534, on Peary, Parker, & Browne: “bribery,

conspiracy, andperjury.” Hecontinues(with unwitting irony, givenhisown latertermin Leavenworth
for mail fraud): “That suchmencanescapethedoomof prisoncellsis aparodyuponhumandecency.”

46 SeexxC3­C5, CTC pp.252­253. Attackssummarizedin Bryce's Cook& Peary pp.816f. Ted
Leitzell's claimthatBrowne'sphotowasdoctored(achargespreadby Cookhimself: My Attainmentof
thePole1911p.531)is publishedin Polar Priorities 14(1994)p.17. (Browneis anoddtargetof attack
for fraudsinceheon1912/6/29gotwithin a few hundredfeetof McKinley's summit— all theway to
FarthingHorn[fn 7] — yethonestlyadmittedhe'd fallenshortof theexactsummit,entirelyunlike the
big­lie heroof thosewhokeepdenigratinghim.) A morerecentCookSocietyattackonBrowneclaims
(CTC p.261) that he temporarilymis­locatedFake Peakon a map. Comments:[a] SinceBrowne
waseventuallythe�rst post­1906explorerto locateFake Peak(demonstrablycorrectly— hiswritten
cairn­recordwasfoundon thespot: WashburnAAJ11.1[1958]p.21& plate16),why obfuscatewith
suchan obsoletenit­pick? [b] The Cook Society's own map (CTC Plate2/12) mislocatesits fave
formation, “PegasusPeak”,placingthe 12200+ ft & 12060ft peaksin its photo(our Fig.14) north
insteadof southof WestFork TraleikaGlacier. (To preventany unfair conclusion:themapperin this
case,TedHeckathorn,is not ignorantof wherethesepeaksare;i.e.,this is justameaninglessslip. But,
if onegeneratesanit­contest,this is thesortof thingthatcangetunmercifullyblown outof proportion
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this sayabout the CookSociety's ability to detecta genuineconspiracy?) In particular,
Browne's Fake PeakphotowasallegedlyretouchedandBrownehimselfwassaidto have
beenapartyto fraud(allegationsshown heretohavebeen�at­out falseall along).Question:
Whyhavesuch hystericallyextremechargespersisted(for over 90 years),if theFake Peak
photo's locationis now beinghurriedly re­classi�edasjust ho­hum“irrelevant” (z7 xG3)
— asis certainto betheCookparty's permanentfuturepartyline?
G2 Cook's moreimaginative supportershave (Polar Priorities 15 p.36,1995)accused
BradWashburnof ignoringor“suppressingevidence”aspartof a“Peary­Browne­Washburn
vendetta. . . anasty47 historicalcoverup”— andhavetriedportrayingWashburnasaPeary­
cultstooge(partlybecausePeary­backingNationalGeographichadtheexcellentgoodsense
to awardBradits medals— andto rejectCook's grosshoaxes). Comments:[a] Anybody
whoknowsBradWashburnquickly realizesthathisfranktemperamentisutterlyantithetical
to coveringup anything. [b] Right in theprefaceto his crucial1958AmerAlpineJ paper,
Washburn pointedlycriticizedtheover­aggressivenessof Peary's supporters.[c] Theonly
timeDIO 'spublisherandhiswife haveevermetBradandBarbaraWashburn(1995/7/16),
BradopenlymentionedthatPeary's failure, to take navigator­witnessBob Bartletton the
lastleg of his famous1909trip, left Brad(& Bartlett,whomBradknew) suspiciousof the
PearyNorth Poleclaim. Such(typical) opennessby Washburn — who is perfectlyhappy
with our publicationof his skepticismhere— seemsratheroddbehavior for a National­
Geographic­puppet­conspirator!(Further: the bestreview of Rawlins' disbelieving 1973
book, Peary . . . Fiction, wasby Brad's prot́eǵe, Dave Roberts,in the 1973/7/19Wash
Post.) SincetheCookmovementcontinuesto focuson thetheorythatPearyiteforcesare
responsiblefor the nonrecognitionof Cook's claims, it shouldbe addedfurther that this
DIO 's author, editor, andpublisherareall utterdisbelieversin Peary's North Poleclaim.
But thethreeof usagreewith WashburnthatPearycamemuchcloserto thePolethanCook,
andthemajority of thefour of usbelieve that the immortalPearyat leasttried his bestin
1909(shortof suicide)— andwasworth tenof Cookasanexplorer.
G3 Questionsfor the suppression­loathingFrederickA. Cook Society: [a] Is Polar
Priorities willing �nally to publish the full “summit” photo(preferablythe “lost” sharp
copy: z7 fn 12)andits mate?(OurFigs.18&4,respectively.) Indeed,why hasit notalready
longsincedoneso,having (z7 fnn 9­12)possessedbothfor years?[b] CanPolar Priorities
cite48 thisDIO 7.2-3andouraddressandphone&faxnumbers?No needto suppressPolar
Priorities readers'accessto bothsidesof theMcKinley controversy.
G4 Thebottomlineof xG1andof thenow­completevindicationof thosewhocontended
thatFake Peakwasthesite of Cook's “summit” photo: Cook's advocatesobviously now
oweWashburn— andtheshadesof Browne& Parker— anapologyfor their ironic49 slurs.
No matterhow well deserved,50 it is anapologythatonesadlysuspectswill not come.If it
does,DIO will behappy to reportit.

andslungbackat one.I.e., it' s bestif all sidessimply stick to basicissues& logic.)
47 More projection(xF3)? After evidenceproves themwrong in a controversy, someopenlyac­

knowledgethefact(see,e.g.,DIO 1 z1 xC3,z9 fn 7, DIO 6 z3 xF2),while others(thebadlosers)can
never forgive the bearerof thatevidence— and�nd compensatorysatisfaction in launchingattacks
uponhim foreverafter. (See,e.g.,DIO 2.2fn 14,andDIO 2.3z9 fn 32. Or thestalkeresquebehavior of
Keystone­CSICOPs­archonP.Klass— thegoons'goon— towardsTomMcIver [tel. 216­252­5715].)

48 In asfull & detaileda fashionasfn 14& z7 fn 30,whichhereinform our readers:how to contact
all thecentralCook loyalists,how to obtainPolar Priorities 14 & otherissues,andhow to subscribe
and­orcontribute to theCookites'housejournal.

49 Seedisappearances:z7 fn 9­12,fn 25,xE2. (Also: SkepticalInquirer 2.1:62 [1977]pp.73­74.)
50 [On 1998/7/29,Washburngotnew precisedataonkey controversysites.Adoptedhere.]
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Figure31: A detailof Cook's mapfrom p.826of Harper's MonthlyMagazine, May 1907
(enlargedsoscaleequalsthatof Fig.32).N­Ssolid line is longitude151� W; E­W solid line
is latitude63� N, justnorthof thepointBarrill saidthey turnedback.Thedash­dotline is the
routeCookclaimedhetookto thesummit.Thispath(likez7 xA1) is dramaticallydifferent
from theCookSociety'sproposed(E­to­W)East­Buttressroute: CTCPlate2/12. No path
at all wasprovidedon themapappearingin Top(1908pp.152­153or CTCPlate1/5).
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Figure32: A simpli�ed mapof Ruth Glacier& theapproachesto Mt. McKinley asthey
reallyare.Boundariesof glaciersin theirupperreachesareapproximate.Thesmallglacier
justnorthwestof KarstensRidgeisHarperGlacier. Scale:21/2statutemilespercentimeter,
sameasfor Fig.31.
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Figure33: Hairy Ridge,looking roughlynorthwest,at a little over 11,000feet. (Location:
just eastof last“s” in “EastButtress”on Fig.32.) TheCookSociety's EastButtressRoute
supposesCookwentalongthetopof thisserratedknife­edgefrom right to left, thenstraight
up theicy clif f beyond. Theoppositesideof theHairy Ridgeis nearlyasforbiddingasthe
faceshown. Photocourtesyof BradfordWashburn.

Figure34: Thesummitof Mt. McKinley asit really is, lookingduesouth.TerrisMoore&
Bob Bates,July 1942. Comparingto Figs.2,3, & 18, it' s impossibleto seeany similarity.
Photoby & courtesyof BradWashburn.
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